

Chemical Constituents and Antidiabetic Activities of The Aerial Parts Of *Tiliacora triandra*

Emmanuel Ayobami Makinde

A Thesis Submitted in Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Thai Traditional Medicine

Prince of Songkla University

2019

Copyright of Prince of Songkla University

Thesis Title	Chemical constituents and antidiabetic activities of the aerial	
	parts of Tiliacora triandra	
Author	Mr. Emmanuel Ayobami Makinde	
Major Program	Thai Traditional Medicine	

Major Advis	or
-------------	----

Examination Committee:

(Dr. Opeyemi Joshua Olatunji)

..... Chairperson (Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kornkanok Ingkaninan)

..... Committee

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Sunee Chansakaow)

..... Committee (Dr. Opeyemi Joshua Olatunji)

.....Committee (Asst. Prof. Dr. Chitchamai Ovatlarnporn)

.....Committee (Asst. Prof. Dr. Nantiya Joycharat)

The Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University, has approved this thesis as fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Thai Traditional Medicine degree in Thai Traditional Medicine.

.....

(Prof. Dr. Damrongsak Faroongsarng)

Dean of Graduate School

This is to certify that the work here submitted is the result of the candidate's own investigations. Due acknowledgment has been made of any assistance received.

.....Signature

(Dr. Opeyemi Joshua Olatunji)

Major Advisor

.....Signature

(Mr. Emmanuel Ayobami Makinde)

Candidate

I hereby certify that this work has not been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being currently submitted in candidature for any degree.

.....Signature

(Mr. Emmanuel Ayobami Makinde)

Candidate

Thesis Title	Chemical constituents and antidiabetic activities of the aerial
	parts of Tiliacora triandra
Author	Mr. Emmanuel Ayobami Makinde
Major Program	Thai Traditional Medicine
Academic year	2019

ABSTRACT

Initial investigations revealed that the ethanol extract of the whole aerial part, *n*-hexane (TT-001) and ethyl acetate (TT-002) fractions of the leaves as well as the *n*-hexane (TT-004) and ethyl acetate (TT-005) fractions of the twigs of *Tiliacora* triandra exhibited potent alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitory activities. Further investigations led to the isolation of 5,7-dihydroxyl-6-oxoheptadecanoic acid (1), 5,7-dihydroxyl-6-oxooctadecanoate (2), ethyl(9Z,12Z,15Z)-octadeca-9,12,15trienoate (3) and ethyl(9Z,12Z)-octadeca-9,12-dienoate (4) from the leaves and twigs of T. triandra. Compounds 1 and 2 are new compounds while 3 and 4 were isolated from T. triandra for the first time. Compounds 1, 2, 3 and 4 showed potent inhibitory activity against alpha-glucosidase enzyme while only compound 1 showed alphaamylase inhibitory activity. Furthermore, the antidiabetic effect of the ethanol extract of the aerial part of *T. triandra* and compound **1** on high-fat diet/streptozotocin induced diabetic rats was evaluated. Treatment with 100 mg/kg and 400 mg/kg of T. triandra extract and 25 mg/kg of compound 1 markedly suppressed insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, polydipsia, polyphagia, lipid profile and liver function enzymes. Furthermore, the extract of *T. triandra* and compound **1** enhanced glucose tolerance, improved body weight, haematological parameters, and reversed damages to the pancreas and displayed protective effects against diabetes induced liver, kidney and testicular damage. Findings from this study revealed that T. Triandra and its' constituents demonstrated good in vitro and in vivo antidiabetic properties and are potential sources of alternative or complementary therapy for the treatment of diabetes and its' complications.

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my beloved siblings Rebecca and Funmilayo Makinde and late mom, Christianah Abidemi Makinde.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All praises to the Lord of heaven and earth, creator of the world and everything in it. The one who gives to all life, breath and all things my King in whom I live, move and have my being.

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Opeyemi Joshua Olatunji for his consistent counsel and guidance throughout the course of my program and for the insights you have given me. Thank you for not accepting anything short of excellence, it has been an honor studying under your tutelage.

I acknowledge with great gratitude the financial support provided by the graduate school of the Prince of Songkla University through the Thailand Education Hub for ASEAN countries (TEH-AC) scholarship and the Prince of Songkla University Graduate School financial support for thesis.

My sincere appreciation also goes to Asst. Prof. Dr. Chitchamai Ovatlarnporn for allowing me to evaluate the *in vitro* biological activities in her laboratory and helping with the optical rotation experiments. I also express my profound gratitude to Prof. Vatcharin Rukachaisirikul for her helpful guidance on structure elucidation.

A big thank you to Arthit Pikulngam for helping with UV/Vis and IR experiments. I also thank Ademola Adekoya for his immense assistance during the period of animal experiments and Ozioma Nwabor for always being a brother and a friend. Appreciation to Miss Nui Jirapa who was of immense help during the animal experiment and who gave me her experimental sets during that period; thank you for your prayers, you know I care greatly.

To one of the most important persons in my life, my mom Prof. Omolara O. Oluwaniyi, thank you for the pivotal roles you have played in my life till date and for taking me as your son. I cannot but express my gratitude to my Pastor and Mrs. Olaniyan for their constant support and for bringing me up in the way of truth. Failure has never been an option because of the great support system you have offered.

To my awesome family in Thailand, The HIM and PPICF family I am immensely grateful to everyone of you for making my stay and study in Thailand a memorable and fulfilling one, you took away the loneliness. Thank you Pastor Chaiyapruck, Mr. and Mrs. Nathapong, Mr. Kingsley Okpara, Mr. Freedom Timon and Clement Ajani.

I appreciate my wonderful parents and siblings, Funmilayo, Rebecca and Bolaji Makinde for being supportive all along, I love you all. My bosom friend from undergraduate days whose support I can always count on, Funmilayo Tijesunimi Olorunsola I am honored to be your friend, thanks a billion.

Again and finally, I'm grateful to my Lord, my Father and King, the one who was always there through the thick and thin, the one who will never leave nor forsake me, whose outstretched arm has brought me this far. I will never be ungrateful to you my King, thank you.

Emmanuel Makinde.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACTv
DEDICATIONvi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTvii
List of Tables xiii
List of Figuresxiv
List of abbreviationsxvii
Chapter 11
Introduction1
1.1. General introduction1
1.2. Alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase enzymes4
1.3. High-fat diet/streptozotocin induced diabetes model4
1.4. The genus <i>Tiliacora</i> 5
1.5. Tiliacora triandra6
1.6. Rationale and objectives12
Chapter 214
Materials and Methods14
2.1. General experimental procedures14

Table of contents (continued)

2.2. Plant material	14
2.3. Extraction and isolation	15
2.4. In vitro antidiabetic activity	16
2.4.1. Determination of alpha-glucosidase inhibitory a	activity16
2.4.2. Determination of alpha-amylase inhibitory activ	vity17
2.5. Preparation of <i>T. triandra</i> extract for animal expe	riment18
2.6. Animal experiment	
2.6.1. Animal model and induction of diabetes	
2.6.2. Experimental design	19
2.6.3. Intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test	20
2.6.4. Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resis	tance and beta cell function
(HOMA-IR and HOMA-β)	
2.6.5. Biochemical assay	20
2.6.6. Haematological analysis	21
2.6.7. Histology of pancreas, liver, kidney and testes .	21
2.7. Data analysis	21
Chapter 3	22
Results and Discussion	22
3.1. Isolation and structure elucidation	

Table of contents (continued)

3.2. Pharmacological studies
3.2.1. Alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitory activities
3.2.2. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on fasting blood glucose, HbA1c and insulin level
3.2.3. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test
3.2.4. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on food intake, water intake and body weight
3.2.5. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on HOMA-IR and HOMA-β36
3.2.6. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on lipid profile
3.2.7. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on liver function enzymes
3.2.8. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on serum protein levels40
3.2.9. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on serum bilirubin levels40
3.2.10. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on blood urea nitrogen and creatinine
3.2.11. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on serum electrolytes
3.2.12. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on haematological parameters44
3.2.13. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on liver, kidney and testes index
3.2.14. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on the pancreatic histology50

3.2.15. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on hepatic histology5	51
3.2.16. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on renal histology5	51
3.2.17. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on testicular histology5	52
Chapter 45	54
Conclusion5	54
References5	56
Appendix7	72
VITAE)0

List of Tables

Table 1. Composition of High-fat diet 19
Table 2. NMR data of compound 1 (¹ H: 500 MHz, ¹³ C: 125 MHz; CDCl ₃)
Table 3. NMR data of compound 2 (¹ H: 500 MHz, ¹³ C: 125 MHz; CDCl ₃)25
Table 4. NMR data of compound 3 (¹ H: 500 MHz, ¹³ C: 125 MHz; CDCl ₃)27
Table 5. NMR data of compound 4 (¹ H: 500 MHz, ¹³ C: 125 MHz; CDCl ₃)
Table 6. Alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitory activities (IC ₅₀)31
Table 7. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on serum electrolytes44
Table 8. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA25 on RBC parameters. 46
Table 9. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on WBC parameters. 47
Table 10. Effect of T. triandra extract and DHA on liver, kidney and testes index47

List of Figures

Figure 1. Tiliacora triandra 7
Figure 2. Key HMBC and COSY correlations of compound 123
Figure 3. Key HMBC correlations of compound 225
Figure 4. Key HMBC and COSY correlations of compound 3
Figure 5. Key HMBC correlations of compound 4
Figure 6A-C. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on FBG, HbA1c and insulin level
Figure 7. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test
Figure 8A-C. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on body weight, food and water intake
Figure 9A-B. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on HOMA-IR, HOMA-β and HbA1c
Figure 10A-D. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on lipid profile
Figure 11A-C. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on liver enzymes
Figure 12A-C. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on protein levels41
Figure 13A-B. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on serum protein and bilirubin levels. 42
Figure 14A-B. Effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on BUN and creatinine42
Figure 15A-E. Picture showing the effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA pancreatic
histology

List of figures (continued)

Figure 16A-E. Picture showing the effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on the hepatic
histology51
Figure 17A-E. Picture showing the effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on renal histology
Figure 18A-E. Picture showing the effect of <i>T. triandra</i> extract and DHA on the testicular histology
Figure 19. ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 1 (500 MHz, CDCl ₃)73
Figure 20. ¹³ C NMR spectrum of compound 1 (125 MHz, CDCl ₃)74
Figure 21. ¹ H - ¹ H COSY spectrum of compound 1 (CDCl ₃)75
Figure 22. HMQC spectrum of compound 1 (CDCl ₃)76
Figure 23. HMBC spectrum of compound 1 (CDCl ₃)77
Figure 24. HRESIMS spectrum of compound 178
Figure 25. IR spectrum of compound 1
Figure 26. UV spectrum of compound 1 (EtOH)
Figure 27. ¹ H NMR spectrum of compound 2 (500 MHz, CDCl ₃)81
Figure 28. ¹³ C NMR spectrum of compound 2 (125 MHz, CDCl ₃)82
Figure 29. HMBC spectrum of compound 2 (CDCl ₃)83
Figure 30. HRESIMS spectrum of Compound 2
Figure 31. IR spectrum of compound 2
Figure 32. UV spectrum of compound 2 (EtOH)

List of figures (continued)

Figure 33. ¹ H NMR spec	etrum of compound 3 (500 MHz, CDCl ₃))87
Figure 34. ¹³ C NMR spec	ctrum of compound 3 (125 MHz, CDCl ₃)88
Figure 35. ¹ H - ¹ H COSY	spectrum of compound 3 (CDCl ₃)	
Figure 36. HMQC spectr	rum of compound 3 (CDCl ₃)	90
Figure 37. HMBC spectr	rum of compound 3 (CDCl ₃)	91
Figure 38. HRESIMS sp	ectrum of compound 3 (CDCl ₃)	92
Figure 39. IR spectrum of	of compound 3	93
Figure 40. UV spectrum	of compound 3 (EtOH)	94
Figure 41. ¹ H NMR spect	trum of compound 4 (500 MHz, CDCl ₃).	95
Figure 42. ¹³ C NMR spec	ctrum of compound 4 (125 MHz, CDCl ₃)96
Figure 43. HMBC Spect	rum of compound 4 (CDCl ₃)	97
Figure 44. IR spectrum of	of compound 4	98
Figure 45. UV spectrum	of compound 4 (EtOH)	

List of abbreviations

ACN	Acetonitrile
ALP	Alanine phosphatase
ALT	Alanine transaminase
AST	Aspartate transaminase
BUN	Blood urea nitrogen
DHA	5,7-Dihydroxyl-6-oxoheptadecanoic acid
EtOH	Ethanol
FBG	Fasting blood glucose
HB	Haemoglobin
HbA1C	Glycated haemoglobin
НСТ	Haematocrit
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HFD	High fat diet
HOMA – IR	Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance
$HOMA-\beta$	Homeostatic model assessment of beta cell function
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
IPGTT	Intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test
IR	Infrared spectroscopy
LDL-C	Low density lipoprotein – cholesterol
LY	Lymphocytes
MCHC	Mean corpuscular haemoglobin concentration
MCV	Mean corpuscular volume
МО	Monocytes
NEU	Neutrophil
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy
PLT	Platelets
RBC	Red blood cell
RDW	Red cell distribution width
STZ	Streptozotocin

List of abbreviations (continued)

TCO ₂	Total carbon dioxide
TG	Triglycerides
UV	Ultraviolet spectroscopy
WBC	White blood cell

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1. General introduction

Diabetes mellitus is a chronic metabolic disease characterized by hyperglycemia which is a persistent rise in blood glucose. In addition to hyperglycemia, diabetes is also characterized by abnormalities in carbohydrate, protein and lipid metabolism. Diabetes occurs when the pancreatic beta cells (β -cells) produces little or no insulin, or when the body develops resistance to insulin. Diabetes is associated with symptoms such as polydipsia, polyuria, polyphagia and excessive weight loss (Egan and Dinneen, 2019; Crawford, 2017; Ozougwu et al., 2013; Mohammed et al., 2017). Diabetes also leads to severe complications such as neuropathy, nephropathy, retinopathy and cardiovascular diseases (International Diabetes Federation, 2017; Chatterjee et al., 2012; Fox et al., 2016). The global prevalence of diabetes is rapidly on the rise and according to reports from International Diabetes Federation, about 451 million adults had diabetes in 2017 and by the end of 2045 there will be at least 693 million persons suffering from diabetes. Diabetes was responsible for about 5 million deaths in 2017, killing a person every six seconds and at least 352 million persons are at risk of being diagnosed with diabetes (International Diabetes Federation, 2017; Cho et al., 2018).

There are two main types of diabetes, type 1 diabetes which is also known as insulin dependent diabetes mellitus which occurs when the pancreatic β -cells secretes very little or no insulin and type 2 diabetes known as non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus which is characterized by insulin resistance caused by pancreatic β cell dysfunction (Egan and Dinneen, 2019; International Diabetes Federation 2017; Martinez et al., 2019). Type 1 diabetes is an autoimmune disease and the pathogenesis remains unclear. However, factors such as obesity, unhealthy diet, excessive consumption of alcohol and cigarette, environmental toxins and sedentary lifestyle are primarily the cause of type 2 diabetes (Chatterjee et al., 2017; Olokoba et al., 2012; Ozougwu et al., 2013; Rios et al., 2015). Genetics is also believed to play an important role in the development of type 1 and type 2 diabetes because about 25% of the persons suffering from type 1 and type 2 diabetes have a family history of diabetes (Rother, 2007; Chatterjee et al., 2017).

There is no known cure for diabetes, however, diabetes can be managed successfully through a combination of medication and lifestyle changes like physical exercises and improved diet (Rios et al., 2015). Presently, the therapeutic approach for the management of diabetes is focused on keeping the blood glucose level within the normal limits (fasting blood glucose between 70 and 126 mg/dL) and this can be achieved using conventional drugs of various mechanisms (Katisart and Rattana, 2017; Tang et al., 2017; Rios et al., 2015; Heller and Novodvorsky, 2019). Commercially available glucose lowering drugs includes insulin sensitizers such as biguanides and thiazolidinediones, insulin secretagogues such as meglitinides and sulfonylureas, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors as well as alpha-glucosidase and alphaamylase inhibitors (Prabhakar and Doble, 2011; Mohammed et al., 2017, Olokoba et al., 2017). However, these drugs are expensive and associated with serious adverse effects such as hypoglycemia, neurological deficits, gastrointestinal discomforts, lactic acidosis amongst others (Ibrahim et al., 2016; Ekperikpe et al., 2019; Prabhakar and Doble, 2011). At present the management of diabetes without side effects remains a challenge in pharmaceutical research and these drawbacks have spurred increased research interest in medicinal and edible plants with the aim of developing cheaper and more effective treatment for diabetes with little or no side effects (Rios et al., 2015, Tang et al., 2017).

Nature, before the advent of modern medicine was the only source of therapeutics and for thousands of years man solely depended on nature for healthcare and disease prevention (Cragg and Newman, 2005; Lahlou, 2013; Rey-Ladino et al., 2011). The use of medicinal plants for the treatment of various ailments during the ancient civilization of the Indians, Chinese and North Africans are well documented and the use of medicinal plants have formed the basis of today's medical system (Cragg and Newman, 2013; Phillipson, 2001; Butler, 2004).

Medicinal plants or their extracts have been employed by humans since time immemorial for the treatment of different diseases and they continue to provide new and important natural product leads against various pharmacological targets including diabetes, cancer, cardiovascular diseases, malaria and neurological disorders (Kumar et al., 2015a; Prahabkar and Doble, 2011). Ethnobotanical reports suggest that at least 800 plants are used globally for the treatment and management of diabetes. However, only about 30% of these plants have been evaluated biologically with the bioactive substances responsible for their antidiabetic potential largely unknown (Arumugam et al., 2013; Chinsembu, 2019). Furthermore, less than 1% of the world's over 250,000 higher plants has been screened for their antidiabetic activity, consequently there are huge prospects of discovering new antidiabetic medications from medicinal plants (Arumugam et al., 2013).

A few natural products derived active principles have been used in the treatment of diabetes and some of them are precursors for a number of antidiabetic drugs which are in use today (Chinsembu, 2019; Rios et al., 2015). These includes classes of compounds like alkaloids, phenolics, terpenoids, steroids, guanidine, glycopeptides, amino acids and polysaccharides (Ríos et al., 2015; Joseph and Jini, 2013; Bedekar et al., 2010; Prahabkar and Doble, 2008; Yin et al., 2014). The discovery of metformin a widely used hypoglycemic drug belonging to the class biguanides came from the traditional approach of using *Galega officinalis* for the treatment of diabetes in Europe and Asia (Bailey and Day, 2004). This plant is rich in galegine, a guanidine, derivative with hypoglycemic activity which is present in the basic structure of metformin. Although guanidine was found to be too toxic for clinical use, it formed the basis for the development of biguanindes and later the development of metformin which is one of the most widely prescribed drug for the treatment of diabetes today (Bailey and Day, 2004; Bailey and Day, 1989; Bailey, 1988; Marles and Farnsworth, 1995). Acarbose a widely used alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitor is of microbial origin and was obtained from Actinoplanes sp. (Wehmeier, 2003). Also, miglitol which is an α -glucosidase inhibitor was first isolated from different strains of *Bacillus* and Streptomyces (Bedekar et al., 2010; Ríos et al., 2015). Valiolamine which was isolated from Streptomyces hydroscopicus was the precursor for the synthesis of voglibose which is an alpha-glucosidase inhibitor (Matsuo et al., 1992).

1.2. Alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase enzymes

Alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase are enzymes which are intricately involved in the breakdown of carbohydrates into smaller molecules in the digestive system. Large insoluble polysaccharides are hydrolysed into smaller absorbable oligosaccharides by alpha-amylase which is found in the saliva and pancreatic juice while alpha-glucosidase which is found in the mucosal brush border of the small intestine finally hydrolyses the oligosaccharides into smaller absorbable glucose molecules before being absorbed into the blood (Ademiluyi and Oboh, 2013; Bhandari et al., 2008; Kazeem et al., 2013; Rizvi et al., 2019). Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase causes a delay in the breakdown of carbohydrates to absorbable glucose molecules, which leads to a reduction in the rate of glucose absorption into the blood and consequently lowers the postprandial blood glucose level. Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase has been found to be an effective approach in the management of diabetes (Ademiluyi and Oboh, 2013; Kazeem et al., 2013; Kasipandi et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2019; Rizvi et al., 2019).

Synthetic drugs such as acarbose, voglibose and miglitol are commercially available alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitors. However, they show some undesirable side effects like diarrhea, flatulence and abdominal pains. These drugs also have toxic effects on the liver (Irons and Minze, 2014; Kasipandi et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2019; Rizvi et al., 2019). These challenges have necessitated the search for natural alternatives with enhanced potency and lesser or no side effects.

1.3. High-fat diet/streptozotocin induced diabetes model

Over the years, various animal models have been used for diabetic studies and most of these models make use of very toxic chemicals like alloxan and streptozotocin (STZ). STZ which was first used in 1993 is the most commonly used chemical for the induction of diabetes (Ghasemi et al., 2014; Szkudelski, 2001; Lenzen, 2008). Streptozotocin is a nitrosourea analogue which has selective cytotoxic effect on β -cells. When introduced into the body STZ is transported to the β -cells through the glucose transporters 2 (GLUT 2), causing necrosis of the β -cells through DNA alkylation or breakage. This essentially results in mild or severe impairment of insulin secretion depending on the dose of STZ used (Lenzen, 2008). A major disadvantage of STZ is that at high doses, STZ severely impairs insulin secretion and may also lead to ketone body formation and spillage into the urine. However, induction of diabetes with low dose of STZ mildly impairs insulin secretion, eliminates the possibility of ketone spillage and ketone body formation but does not result in insulin resistance as seen in diabetes, especially in type 2 diabetes (Gheibi et al., 2017a; Kashfi et al., 1995). It has been reported that feeding animals with high fat diet (HFD) causes insulin resistance and obesity but not necessarily diabetes. Thus, this formed the basis for the combination of HFD and low dose of STZ for the induction diabetes (Kern et al., 1990; Kraegen et al., 1991; Reed et al., 2000).

High fat diet/streptozotocin (HFD/STZ) diabetic model was first reported by Reed et al. (2000). This model was improved in 2005, when diabetes was induced using a lower dose of STZ after dietary manipulation with HFD (Srinivasan et al., 2005). The key advantage of HFD/STZ induced diabetes is that it makes it possible to reproduce the pathogenisis of human type 2 diabetes in animal models (Gheibi et al., 2017a; Reed et al., 2000). This is because insulin resistance is a key feature in diabetes (especially type 2) and initial dietary manipulation of animals with HFD causes insulin resistance in the animals which makes their pancreatic β -cells more susceptible to the diabetogenic effect of STZ at low dose (Asrafuzzaman et al., 2017; Skovso, 2014).

1.4. The genus *Tiliacora*

Tiliacora is a genus of the *Menispermaceae* family consisting of approximately 22 species. Amongst these species, 20 are reportedly distributed in Africa while two are native to Southeast Asia (De Wet et al., 2016). Although the genus *Tiliacora* consists of 22 species, information available in literatures are limited to only four species of this genus (*T. triandra*, *T. acuminata*, *T. funifera* and *T. dinklagei*). Species of this genus are climbing plants characterised by shiny dark green leaves with ovate shape and thin apex. Plants of this genus are used traditionally as antimalarial agents and to treat snake bites, gastrointestinal diseases and menstrual problems (De Wet et al., 2016; Molander et al., 2012; Oliver-Bever, 1983).

The root of *T. funifera* is mixed with other plants to increase women fertility in South Africa while in Congo the fruits and the sap from the fruit are included in herbal remedies for prevention of insanity. In Ghana, *T. funifera* is used to treat liver diseases, gastric fever, hernia and menstrual problems (De Wet and Van Wyk, 2008, 2016; Tackie, 1973). In Ayurvedic medicine *T. acuminata* is used as antidotes for snake bites, insect bites and to treat filariasis. The root extract and the methanolic extract of the leaves of *T. acuminata* has been reported to possess acetylcholinesterase inhibitory activity, antimicrobial, antitumor, antibacterial, antioxidant and nootropic activities (Hossain et al., 2013; Vivek et al., 2017). The ethanolic extract of the leaves of *T. acuminata* displayed potent antinociceptive and antidiarrheal activities (Ben et al., 2013; Chandrakanthan et al., 2014; Hossain et al., 2013).

Several phytoconstituents have been isolated from the genus *Tiliacora* with the majority being bisbenzylisoquinoline alkaloids. Bisbenzylisoquinoline alkaloids such as tiliacorine, tiliacorinine, tiliamosine, tiliaresine, tiliarine, *N*-methyltiliamosine, tiliacosine, magnoflorine and tiliasine were previously isolated from *T. acuminata* and these alkaloids were reported to possess hypotensive, hepatoprotective, antimicrobial, antimalarial, antitumor, antifungal and antioxidant activities (Ray et al., 1989; Ray et al., 1990; Vivek et al., 2017; Sylvester et al., 2018). Nortiliacorine A and nortiliacorine A were isolated from *T. funifera* (Tackie et al., 1972). Oblongine, dinklacorine and tiliageine were also isolated from the roots of *T. dinklagei* (Dwuma-Badu et al., 1980). Two novel esters octyl (benzoylamino)acetate and heptadeca-4-ene-acetate were isolated from *T. acuminata* (Joseph et al., 2009).

1.5. Tiliacora triandra

T. triandra (Colebr.) Diels known in Thailand as Ya-nang is a flowering plant native to Southeast Asia especially Thailand and Laos. It is a common vegetable in the cuisines of northeast Thailand and Laos (Singthong et al., 2009; Singthong et al., 2010). *T. triandra*, is a climbing plant with deep green ovate shaped leaves and yellow flowers. In Thailand, the extract from the root of *T. triandra* is used for the treatment of fever and malaria while the juice made from the leaves is used traditionally as an anticancer and immunomodulator (Wiriyachitra and Phuriyakorn, 1981; Rattana et al., 2010; Rattana et al., 2016; De wet et al., 2016). According to traditional healers, drinking a decoction of the root or climber of *T. triandra* lowers the blood glucose level in diabetic patients (Neamsuvan et al., 2015a). In Thailand, decoction made from the root of *T. triandra* is used for the treatment of *T. triandra* is used for the treatment of *T. triandra* is used for the root of *T. triandra* lowers the blood glucose level in diabetic patients (Neamsuvan et al., 2015a). In Thailand, decoction made from the root of *T. triandra* is used for the treatment of gastrointestinal diseases and the flower

is used for the treatment of various skin diseases (Neamsuvan et al., 2015b; Neamsuvan et al., 2016). Boiled fresh roots, leaves and twigs of *T. triandra* were used in the treatment of hypertension in Thai folklore medicine (Neamsuvan et al., 2018).



Figure 1. Tiliacora triandra

The methanolic extract of the stem bark and root of T. triandra demonstrated potent antifungal activity and antibacterial activity. The highest antibacterial activity was observed against gram-negative Escherichia coli and the extracts also showed moderate activity against Shigella sonnei, S. dysenteriae, Agrobacterium spp and Aspergillus niger (Rahman et al., 2017). The methanolic extract from the root of T. triandra showed acetylcholinesterase inhibitory activity, demonstrating its potency as a treatment for neurological disorders such as Alzheimer's disease (Ingkaninan et al., 2003; Mukherjee et al., 2007). The water extract of the aerial part of T. triandra is effective in the treatment of neurological disorder induced by alcohol and it also possesses antitumor and anti-cancer activity (Janeklang et al., 2014; Phunchago et al., 2015). The leaf extracts of T. triandra has high antioxidant activity due to its high flavonoid and phenolic content (Katisart and Rattana, 2017). Essential oils found in T. triandra has been reported to exhibit antimicrobial activity against Staphylococcus aureus, Bacillus cereus, Escherichia coli and Salmonella specie (Naibaho and Kerdchoechuen, 2012). T. triandra was said to be a potential source of novel chemosensitizer because the hexane extract of the leaves reduced the etoposide resistance of A549RT-eto cell line (Assavalapsakul et al., 2014).

Chemical analysis have shown that the leaves of *T. triandra* contains high level of β -carotene and minerals like calcium and iron (Singthong et al., 2009). Studies have been conducted to identify the chemical composition of the essential oils from the leaves of *T. triandra*, which were identified as isophytol, linoleic acid, hexadecanoic acid, linalool, α -terpineol, *p*-vinylguaiacol, 1-hexanol, β -damascenone, neophytadiene, tetradecanoic acid, 3-hexen-1-ol, spathulenol and benzeneacetaldehyde (Naibaho and Kerdchoechuen, 2012). Also, analysis of the hexane extract of the leaves of *T. triandra* showed that the extract contains a mixture of hexadecanoic acid, octadecanoic acid and (*Z*)-6-octadecenoic acid (Assavalapsakul et al., 2014).

T. triandra like other species of *Tiliacora* is rich in bisbenzylisoquinoline alkaloids. Tiliacorine and tiliacorinine were isolated from the root of *T. triandra*. Tiliacorinine was reported to possess antimalarial activity at an IC₅₀ value of 2.09 μ g/mL (Nutmakul et al., 2016; Pavanand et al., 1989; Saiin and Markmee, 2003). Tiliacorinine inhibited the proliferation of human cholangiocarcinoma cell lines at an IC₅₀ value of 4.5-7 μ M and also reduced tumour growth in cholangiocarcinoma xenografted mice at a dose of 10 mg/kg (Janeklang et al., 2014).

Another bisbenzylisoquinoline alkaloid, nortiliacorinine A isolated from the roots of T. triandra have been reported to exhibit antimycobacterial activity against clinical isolates of multidrug-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis, with MIC value of 3.1 µg/mL (Sureram et al., 2012). Yanangcorinine which was also isolated from the root of T. triandra was reported to show potent anti-plasmodial activity at an IC₅₀ value of $< 2 \mu g/mL$ (Nutmakul et al., 2016). Also, tiliacorinine 2'-N-oxide was isolated from the root of T. triandra (Wiriyachitra and Phuriyakorn, 1981). Dinklacorine, norisoyanangine, nortiliacorine tilianangine, noryanangine, yanangine, Α, tilitriandrine, 2'-N-methyltilitriandrine and tiliageine are other bisbenzylisoquinonine alkaloids isolated from the aerial parts of T. triandra but there are no reports on their pharmacological activity (Pachaly and Khosravian, 1988a; Pachaly and Khosravian, 1988b; Pachaly and Tan, 1986). Magnoflorine which was isolated from the aerial part of T. triandra displayed potent alpha-glucosidase inhibitory against at an IC₅₀ value of 7.8 and 9.8 µg/mL for maltase and sucrase, respectively (Patel and Mishra, 2012). Oxoanolobine was isolated from the leaves of T. triandra and have been reported to demonstrate anti-cancer activity. Oxoanolobine showed moderate activity against NCI-

H187 cell lines at an IC₅₀ value of 27.60 μ g/mL (Rattana et al., 2016). Toxicity studies revealed that *T. triandra* when administered orally does not cause acute or sub-chronic toxicities in either male or female rats (Sireeratawong et al., 2008) and due to its long history of consumption as food and its use as traditional medicine especially amongst the Thais, *T. triandra* is considered safe for human consumption (Chaveerach et al., 2016).





Neophytadiene

Tetradecanoic acid





Spathulenol





Tiliacorine



Nortiliacorinine A





Tiliacorinine



Yanangcorinine

0

ΟН



Tiliacorine 2'-*N*-oxide



Tilianangine



Noryisoyanangine



Dinklacorine



Noryanangine



Yanangine







1.6. Rationale and objectives

Today, diabetes is not just a global public health epidemic, it is also a huge societal challenge causing sufferings to families by imposing huge financial burden. The prevalence of diabetes has resulted in increased global public health expenditure and governments worldwide are struggling to cope with the cost of diabetic care (Chatterjee et al., 2017; International Diabetes Federation, 2017; Olokoba et al., 2012). Despite the huge progress made towards developing an effective treatment for diabetes,

drugs which are currently used to treat diabetes are expensive and also associated with various side effects such as hypoglycemia, heart failure, diarrhea, nausea and vomiting (Mohammed et al., 2017). These challenges have necessitated the exploration of natural products for new antidiabetic treatments.

Given the rising prevalence of diabetes on a global scale and the limitations associated with the management of the disease and its complications it is evident that there is a need to urgently explore nature particularly medicinal plants for bioactive agents with antidiabetic properties as this could provide a more potent, safer and cheaper alternatives to available treatments. Previous reports have suggested that *T. triandra* is possesses antidiabetic potential, a study reported that the ethanol extract of the leaf of *T. triandra* displayed potent hypoglycemic activity in STZ induced diabetic rats (Katisart and Rattana, 2017). However, the compounds responsible for this activity remains unknown and there are also no reports on the ability of *T. triandra* and its constituents to ameliorate diabetes induced complications. Hence, the research described in this dissertation is focused on unraveling the antidiabetic capabilities of the extracts and constituents from the aerial parts of *T. triandra*.

The objectives of this research are:

- To establish the alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activities of the extracts of *T. triandra*.
- To isolate and characterize bioactive chemical constituents from the aerial part of *T. triandra*.
- To determine the alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activities of the isolated compounds
- To assess the effect of the crude ethanol extract and the major active constituent of the aerial part of *T. triandra* in high-fat diet/streptozotocin induced diabetic rats.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1. General experimental procedures

All chromatographic materials and chemicals were used as purchased except otherwise stated. Solvents used for silica gel column chromatography and other general purposes were of commercial grade and were distilled prior to use. High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) analysis were performed using HPLC grade acetonitrile (RCI Labscan Ltd., Bangkok Thailand) and ultrapure water. Thin layer chromatography was performed using SiO₂ pre-coated aluminum sheets, 0.2 mm thickness (DC-Fertigfolien ALUGRAM[®] Xtra SIL G/UV₂₅₄). Column chromatography was performed using SiO₂ 60, purchased from VertiFlash Silica (60 1001-1405 Å, 60-200µm, Vertical Chromatography Co., Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand). Semi-preparative HPLC was performed on Jasco HPLC-4000 preparative (Jasco Inc., Easton, USA) using Vertisep GES C18 HPLC column (10 x 250 mm, 5 µm, Vertical Chromatography Co., Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand).

Nuclear magnetic resonance spectrum was recorded on Fourier Transform NMR spectrometer 500 MHz, Unity Inova (Varian, Germany, 500 MHz ¹H; and 125 MHz ¹³C; CDCl₃ as solvent). Mass spectrum was recorded on 1290 Infinity II LC-6545 Quadrupole-TOF spectrometer (Agilent Technologies, USA). Infrared spectroscopy was done using Perkin Elmer FT-IR Spectrum Gx (Massachusetts, USA) and UV spectrum were recorded on Shimadzu UV-Vis Spectrophotometer UV-2600, (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). Optical rotations were recorded on Kruss A. Kruss Optronic polarimeter (Kruss, Germany).

2.2. Plant material

The aerial parts of *T. triandra* was collected from Phattalung province in Thailand and authenticated at the faculty of Traditional Thai Medicine, Prince of Songkla University Hat Yai Thailand. Voucher specimen with voucher number TTM/TT/001 was deposited at the herbarium of the Faculty of Traditional Thai Medicine, Prince of Songkla University Hat Yai Thailand.

2.3. Extraction and isolation

The leaves and twigs of *T. triandra* were dried separately and ground to fine powder. The powdered leaves (800 g) and twigs (500 g) of *T. triandra* were exhaustively extracted by cold maceration in ethanol. The solvent was filtered off and the resulting filtrate was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield crude ethanol extract of leaves (55.87 g) and twigs (28.33 g). The crude ethanol extracts were resuspended in water and partitioned with hexane, ethyl acetate and butanol. This yielded hexane (TT-001, 16.74 g), ethyl acetate (TT-002, 9.83 g) and butanol (TT-003, 2.36 g) extracts of the leaves, as well as the hexane (TT-004, 3.71 g), ethyl acetate (TT-005, 6.91 g) and butanol (TT-006, 1.89 g) extracts of the twigs. In order to check for similarities and to determine the best solvent system for elution during column chromatography all the extracts were monitored using thin layer chromatography (TLC).

TT-002 (1.5 g) was further separated using silica gel column chromatography and eluted with a gradient solvent system of petroleum ether: acetone (4:1 to 1:4). This yielded 58 fractions which were monitored with TLC and combined based on similarities in their TLC fingerprints to obtain 9 pooled fractions: F1 (284.3 mg), F2 (132.5 mg), F3 (151.5 mg), F4 (48.7 mg), F5 (26.7 mg), F6 (15.4 mg), F7 (76.1 mg), F8 (18.0 mg) and F9 (33.7 mg).

Compound **1** (6.7 mg) was obtained from F3 (151.5 mg) after it was purified by reverse phase semi-preparative HPLC using a mobile phase containing 87% acetonitrile (ACN) and 13% H₂O, a flow rate of 3.5 mL/min and detected using a photodiode array detector at a wavelength of 210 nm.

TT-005 (1.8 g) was separated by silica gel column chromatography using a gradient solvent system of petroleum ether:acetone (4:1 to 1:4) to yield 60 fractions. These fractions were monitored using TLC and fractions showing similar TLC fingerprints were pooled to yield 9 fractions: F10 (268.4 mg), F11 (337.8mg), F12 (152.6 mg), F13 (223.0 mg), F14 (128.5 mg), F15 (31.5 mg), F16 (39.4 mg), F17 (145.9 mg) and F18 (240.2 mg). Fraction F11 (337.8 mg) was subjected to reverse phase semi-preparative HPLC using a mobile phase of 90% ACN and 10% H₂O, a flow rate of 4 mL/min and detected using a photodiode array detector at a wavelength of 210 nm. This

afforded compounds 2 (47.7 mg), 3 (9.4 mg) and 4 (27.1 mg). Compound 1 (98.6 mg) was also isolated from fractions F12 (152.6 mg) and F13 (223.0 mg) after they were purified with reverse phase semi-preparative HPLC using 87% ACN and 13% H₂O as the mobile phase, a flow rate of 3.5 mL/min and detected using a photodiode array detector at a wavelength of 210 nm.

2.3.1. 5,7-dihydroxyl-6-oxoheptadecanoic acid (1): yellow oil, $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ -15 (*c* 0.015, EtOH); UV (EtOH) λ_{max} (log ε): 410 (1.74), 666 (0.75); FT-IR v_{max} 3446, 2923, 2852, 1736, 1365, 1217, 1094; HR-ESI-MS *m/z* 317.20748 [M + H]⁺, (calcd. 317.2322 for C₁₇H₃₃O₅). ¹³C and ¹H NMR data are summarised in Table 2.

2.3.2. 5,7-dihydroxy-6-oxooctadecanoate (**2**): yellow oil, $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ 24 (*c* 0.012, EtOH), UV (EtOH) λ_{max} (log ε): 414 (0.41), 434 (0.48) 657 (0.08), FT-IR v_{max} 3442, 2925, 2854, 1735, 1647, 1455, 1376, 1260; HR-ESI-MS *m*/*z* 391.2859 [M + CH₃OH + H]⁺, (calcd. 391.3054 for C₂₁H₄₃O₆). ¹³C and ¹H NMR data are summarised in Table 3.

2.3.3. Ethyl(9Z,12Z,15Z)-octadeca-9,12,15-trienoate (**3**) (CAS No: 1191-41-9): yellow oil, $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ 8 (c = 0.010, EtOH), UV (EtOH) λ_{max} (log ε): 208 (3.24), 432 (0.76), FT-IR v_{max} 3011, 2927, 2854, 1737, 1460,1376, 1261; HR-ESI-MS m/z 329.2448 [M + Na]⁺, (calcd. 329.4683 for C₂₀H₃₄O₂Na). ¹³C and ¹H NMR data are summarised in Table 4. **2.3.4.** Ethyl(9Z,12Z)-octadeca-9,12-dienoate (**4**) (CAS No: 544-35-4): yellow oil, UV (EtOH) λ_{max} (log ε): 210 (3.24), 432 (0.76), FT-IR v_{max} 2970, 1736, 1365, 1217; C₂₀H₃₆O₂. ¹³C and ¹H NMR data are summarised in Table 5.

2.4. In vitro antidiabetic activity

2.4.1. Determination of alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity

The alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity was determined using a previously reported method with some modifications (Kumar et al., 2013). Stock samples of each extract and compound from *T. triandra* were prepared in ethanol at a concentration of 10,000 µg/mL and further diluted to concentrations ranging from 0.1– 5,000 µg/mL with phosphate buffer (pH 6.9, 50 mM). A reaction mixture containing 50 µL of extracts or compounds and 50 µL of 0.57 unit/mL alpha-glucosidase enzyme was added to a 96-well plate and incubated for 10 mins at 37°C. After incubation, 50 µL of *p*-nitrophenyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (1.5 mg/mL) was added and the mixture was further incubated for 20 mins. The reaction was stopped with 50 µL Na₂CO₃ (1.0 M)

and absorbance was measured at 405 nm. Acarbose was used as the standard drug and phosphate buffer was used instead of the extracts and compounds as the negative control and instead of α -glucosidase enzyme as the blank. The concentration of extracts or compounds which inhibits 50% of alpha-glucosidase enzyme (IC₅₀) was calculated from linear regression. Percentage inhibition was determined according to the equation:

% inhibition = $[A_n - (A_s - A_{bs})/A_n] \times 100$

Where: A_n = absorbance of negative solution (no extract or compound)

 A_s = absorbance of sample solution

 A_{bs} = absorbance of blank sample solution (no enzyme)

2.4.2. Determination of alpha-amylase inhibitory activity

The alpha-amylase inhibitory activity was determined using previously reported method with slight adjustments (Chakrabarti et al., 2014; Sudha et al., 2011). Each of the extract and compound were dissolved in ethanol and prepared at a stock concentration of 10,000 μ g/mL. Afterward, the stock solution of extracts and compounds were diluted with 20 mM phosphate buffer (pH 6.9) to concentrations ranging from 0.5–5,000 μ g/mL. A mixture containing 20 μ L of the extracts or compounds, 20 μ L of phosphate buffer and 20 μ L of 1% starch solution was added to a 96-well plate and incubated in a shake-incubator at 37°C for 3 mins. After incubation, 20 μ L of porcine pancreatic α -amylase enzyme solution (12.8 units/mL) was added and the resulting mixture was further incubated at 37°C for 15 mins. The reaction was stopped with 1 M hydrochloric acid (20 μ L), followed by the addition of 100 μ L of 2.5 mM iodine test solution. Acarbose was used as the standard drug and absorbance was measured at 630 nm. The concentration of compound or extract which inhibits 50% of alpha-amylase enzyme (IC₅₀) was calculated from linear regression. The percentage inhibition was determined according to the equation below:

% inhibition = $[1-(A_{bs}-A_s)/(A_{st}-A_n)] \times 100$

Where: A_s = absorbance of sample solution

 A_{bs} = absorbance of mixture without the enzyme

 A_n = absorbance of mixture without the sample

 A_{st} = absorbance of mixture without sample and enzyme

2.5. Preparation of T. triandra extract for animal experiment

Freshly collected aerial part of *T. triandra* was washed and dried at 50 °C. The dried aerial part was pulverized into fine powder and extracted exhaustively by cold maceration in ethanol. The mixture was filtered daily and the filtrate was concentrated under reduced pressure with a rotary evaporator to yield the crude ethanol extract.

2.6. Animal experiment

2.6.1. Animal model and induction of diabetes

Male Sprague Dawley rats weighing between 160–200 g were purchased from Nomura Siam International Co. Ltd. Bangkok, Thailand. The animals were kept in steel cages and housed at the Southern Laboratory Animal Facility, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Thailand at a temperature of 23 ± 2 °C and relative humidity of 50 \pm 5 %, while a 12-hour light/dark cycle was maintained. The animals were fed with normal pelletized diet and allowed to adjust to their new environment for seven days. After the period of acclimatization, the animals were separated into two groups and given two different feeding regimes. The first group were fed with normal rat pellets, while the second group was fed with high-fat diet (HFD) and 15% (w/v) fructose solution for four weeks. The HFD was formulated based on previous literature as shown in Table 1 (Gheibi et al., 2017b). After 4 weeks of dietary manipulation, animals were fasted for 12 hours and diabetes was induced by intraperitoneal injection of 35 mg/kg STZ, which was freshly prepared in ice cold 0.1M citrate buffer (pH 4.5). Blood was collected from the tail vein of the animals and used to determine the fasting blood glucose (FBG) level 3-5 days after diabetes was induced with the aid of a glucometer (Accu-Chek Perfoma, Mannheim, Germany). Animals which had FBG level ≥ 250 mg/dL were considered diabetic and included in the study. This study received ethical clearance approval from the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, Prince of Songkla University with approval number MOE0521.11/1231.
Table 1.	Composition	of High-fat	diet
----------	-------------	-------------	------

Composition	Amount (g)
Normal pelletized diet	500.00
Butter	300.00
Mineral mix	28.70
Soya	73.20
DL methionine	1.80
Coconut oil (mL)	200.00

2.6.2. Experimental design

The rats were separated into five groups of five animals each. Non-diabetic normal control group (NC) treated with 1% tween-80, diabetic control group (DC) treated with 1% tween-80, *T. triandra* 100 (TT100) group treated with 100 mg/kg of ethanol extract of *T. triandra*, (TT400) group treated with 400 mg/ kg of ethanol extract of *T. triandra* and DHA25 group which was treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1** (5,7-dihydroxyl-6-oxoheptadecanoic acid, and abbreviated as DHA). DHA was chosen because it demonstrated the best alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitory activities amongst all the isolated compounds.

The extract and DHA were dissolved in 1% tween-80 and doses were orally administered daily for 30 days. Changes in FBG, body weight, food and water intake of all the groups were monitored throughout the experiment. After 30 days of treatment, the rats were fasted overnight, anaesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of sodium thiopental (150 mg/kg) and sacrificed by cervical dislocation. Blood samples were collected into EDTA and heparin tubes through cardiac puncture. The blood collected into heparin tubes was centrifuged for 10 mins at 2500 rpm and 4°C to obtain the serum which was used for biochemical analysis and the blood collected into EDTA tubes was used for haematological analysis. The pancreas, liver, kidney and testes were rapidly excised, washed in ice cold phosphate buffered saline, weighed and stored in 10%

buffered formalin for histological assessment. The liver, kidney and testes index were calculated based on the equation given below:

Organ weight Body weight

2.6.3. Intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test

On the 30^{th} day of treatment, all the groups were fasted for 16 hours, treated with *T. triandra* extract (100 and 400 mg/kg) and DHA25 group (25 mg/kg). The animals were given 2 g/kg of glucose by intraperitoneal injection 30 mins after treatment. The blood glucose level of the animals was checked at 0, 30, 60 and 120 mins after glucose administration.

2.6.4. Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance and beta cell function (HOMA-IR and HOMA-β)

HOMA-IR was calculated according to the equation below:

Insulin (μU/mL) x FBG (mg/dL) 405 HOMA-β was calculated according to the equation below: <u>360 x Insulin (μU/mL) %</u> FBG (mg/dL) – 63

2.6.5. Biochemical assay

The serum levels of insulin, glycated hemoglobin (Hb1Ac), total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG), high density lipoprotein (HDL), low density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-C), alanine transaminase (ALT), aspartate transaminase (AST), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), total protein, globulin, albumin, total bilirubin, direct bilirubin, creatinine and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) were determined using Dirui CS 600B autochemistry analyzer. Serum levels of total carbon dioxide (TCO₂), sodium (Na⁺), potassium (K⁺) and chloride (Cl⁻) were analyzed using Siemens Advia 1800 clinical chemistry system.

2.6.6. Haematological analysis

Haematological parameters such as red blood cell (RBC), haemoglobin (Hb), hematocrit (HCT), mean cell volume (MCV), mean corpuscular haemoglobin (MCH), mean corpuscular haemoglobin concentration (MCHC), red cell distribution width (RDW), white blood cell (WBC), neutrophil (NEU), lymphocyte (LY), monocyte (MO) and platelet count (PLT) were determined using Horiba ABX Pentra 60 diagnostics haematological series.

2.6.7. Histology of pancreas, liver, kidney and testes

The fixed pancreas, liver, kidney and testes tissues were processed in a tissue processor and embedded in paraffin. The embedded tissues were cut into sections of 5 μ m thickness, mounted onto slides, stained with hematoxylin-eosin and examined under light microscope.

2.7. Data analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm SD. Data were analyzed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. Graphpad prism 7.0 (San Diego, California USA.) was used for all statistical test.

Chapter 3

Results and Discussion

3.1. Isolation and structure elucidation

The hexane and ethyl acetate extracts from the leaves and twigs of *T*. *triandra* were subjected to series of chromatographic techniques which led to the isolation four compounds. This section describes the structure elucidation of these compounds. Their structures were determined by extensive use of various spectroscopic techniques such as nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, infrared (IR) spectroscopy, ultraviolet/visible (UV/Vis) spectroscopy and mass spectrometry (MS).

Compound **1** was isolated as a yellow oil, its' UV spectrum displayed maximum absorption at 410 nm and 666 nm, while IR spectrum showed a broad absorption band at 3449 cm⁻¹ which corresponds to the stretching band of a hydroxyl group and a sharp band at 1736 cm⁻¹ which is characteristic of carbonyls. The HR-ESI-MS spectrum showed a molecular ion peak at m/z 317.2090 [M + H]⁺, corresponding to a molecular formula of C₁₇H₃₂O₅ and two degrees of unsaturation.

The ¹H NMR spectrum showed signals of one hydroxyl proton at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 10.00, two hydroxymethine protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.09 (1H, H-7), 5.05 (1H, H-5); twelve methylenes at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.39 (2H, t, J= 7.5 Hz, H-2), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.04 (2H, dq, J= 7.5, 3.0 Hz, H-4), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.97 (2H, dq, J= 7.5, 3.0 Hz, H-8), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.75 (2H, qnt, J= 7.5 Hz), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.39 (2H, qnt, J= 7.5 Hz, H-9), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.28 (2H, H-16), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.26 (12H, H-10 to H-15) and a methyl at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 0.88 (3H, t, J= 7.0, H-17). The examination of the ¹³C and DEPT NMR spectrum indicated the presence of 17 carbons which consists of a ketone at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 204.0 (C-6), a carbonyl at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 180.2 (C-1), two hydroxymethine carbons at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 91.5 (C-7) and $\delta_{\rm C}$ 89.6 (C-5), 12 methylenes at δ_C 33.3 to 22.6 (C-2 to C-4 and C-8 to C-16) and a methyl carbon at δ_C 14.0 (C-17). ¹H-¹H COSY correlations were observed for H-2/H-3, H-3/H-4, H-4/H-5, H-7/H-8, H-9/H-10, H-14/H-15, H-15/H-16 and H-16/H-17 which suggests the presence of two spin systems, a butanol unit (H-2 to H-5) and an undecanol unit (H-7 to H-17). HMBC correlations from H-4, H-5, H-7 H-8 to C-6 confirmed the ketone was at C-6 and the position of the terminal carboxylic acid group at C-1 was assigned by HMBC correlations from H-2 and H-3 to C-1. HMBC cross peaks from H-5 to C-3, C-4, C-6, and C-7 as well as from H-7 to C-5, C-8 and C-9 established the position of the hydroxymethine protons while additional HMBC correlations from H-17 to C-15 and C-16 confirmed the position of the methyl group. These data suggested that compound **1** is a keto acid with two hydroxyl substitutions. Based on these spectruml evidences compound **1** was determined to be 5,7-dihydroxyl-6-oxoheptadecanoic acid which is a new compound.

Table 2. NMR data of compound 1 (¹H: 500 MHz, ¹³C: 125 MHz; CDCl₃).

Position	$\delta_{ m C}$ (ppm)	$\delta_{\rm H}$ (ppm, J in Hz)	COSY (H→H)	HMBC (H→C)
1	180.2, C	-	-	-
2	33.3, CH ₂	2.39 (t, 7.5)	3	1, 3, 4
3	23.9, CH ₂	1.75 (qnt, 7.5)	2, 3	1, 2, 4, 5
4	28.1, CH ₂	2.04 (dq, 7.5, 3.0)	3, 4	2, 3, 4, 5, 6,
5	89.6, CH	5.05 (overlap)	4	3, 4, 6, 7
6	204.0, C	-	-	-
7	91.5, CH	5.09 (overlap)	8	5, 8, 9
8	28.9, CH ₂	1.97 (dq, 7.5, 3.0)	7, 9	6, 7, 9, 10
9	29.1, CH ₂	1.39 (qnt, 7.5)	8, 10	7, 8, 10
10-14	29.2-29.6, CH ₂	1.26 (overlap)	-	-
15	31.9, CH ₂	1.26 (overlap)	14, 16	14, 16, 17
16	22.6, CH ₂	1.28 (overlap)	15, 17	14, 15, 17
17	14.0, CH ₃	0.88 (t, 7.0)	16	16, 15
СООН	-	10.00 (brs)		



Figure 2. Key HMBC and COSY correlations of compound 1.

Compound **2** was obtained as a yellow oil. The UV spectrum displayed absorption at 414, 434 and 657 nm while the IR spectrum showed a broad absorption band at 3442 cm⁻¹ and a sharp absorption peak at 1735 cm⁻¹ which are characteristic absorptions for hydroxyl and carbonyl groups respectively. The HR-ESI-MS spectrum showed molecular ion peak at m/z 391.2859 [M + CH₃OH + H]⁺, which corresponds to the molecular formula of C₂₀H₃₈O₅ and two degrees of unsaturation.

The ¹H NMR spectrum of compound **2** indicated the presence of two hydroxymethine protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.08 (1H, H-7), 5.04 (1H, H-5), one oxymethylene at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.13 (1H, q, J=7.0 Hz, H-1'), 13 methylenes at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.33 (2H, t, J= 7.5 Hz, H-2), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.03 $(2H, dq, J=7.5 Hz, 3.0, H-4), \delta_H 1.97 (2H, dq, J=7.5, 3.0 Hz, H-8), \delta_H 1.74 (2H, qnt, J=7.5, J=1.5 Hz, J=1.5 Hz,$ J=7.5 Hz, H-3), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.38 (2H, qnt, J=7.5 Hz, H-9), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.26 (16H, H-10 to H-17) and two methyl signals at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.25 (3H, t, J= 7.0 Hz, H-2') and $\delta_{\rm H}$ 0.88 (3H, t, J= 7.0, H-17). The ${}^{13}C$ NMR of compound 2 showed 20 carbons signals which consists of a ketone at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 204.0 (C-6), an ester at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 173.7 (C-1), two hydroxymethines at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 91.4 (C-7) and $\delta_{\rm C}$ 89.8 (C-5), an oxymethylene carbon at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 60.2 (C-1'), 13 methylenes at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 33.6 to 22.7 (C-2 to C-4 and C-8 to C-17) and two methyl carbons at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 14.2 (C-2') and $\delta_{\rm C}$ 14.1 (C-18). The ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound **2** showed obvious and remarkable similarities to that of compound 1 except for the presence of additional signals belonging to the ethoxy group (C-1' at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 60.1, H-1' at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.13 and C-2' $\delta_{\rm C}$ at 14.2, H-2' at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.25) and a methylene (C-15 at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 29.2–29.6, H-15 at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.26). These differences suggested that compound 2 was a fatty acid ethyl ester. The presence of the fatty acid ethyl ester moiety was confirmed by HMBC correlations from H-1', H-2', H-2, H-3 to C-1 and the ketone carbonyl was assigned to C-6 based on HMBC correlations from H-4, H-5, H-7 H-8 to C-6. HMBC correlations from H-4 to C-5 and C-6, H-5 to C-7, H-7 to C-5 and H-8 to C-7 and C-6 confirmed the position of the hydroxymethine protons while the methyl at C-18 was assigned based on HMBC cross peaks from H-18 to C-16 and C-17. These confirmed that compound 2 is a keto ester with two hydroxyl substitutions and the structure was determined to be ethyl 5,7-dihydroxy-6oxooctadecanoate, a new compound.



Figure 3. Key HMBC correlations of compound 2.

Table 3. NMR data of compound 2 (¹H: 500 MHz, ¹³C: 125 MHz; CDCl₃).

Position	$\delta_{\rm C}({\rm ppm})$	$\delta_{\rm H}$ (ppm, J in Hz)	HMBC (H→C)
1	173.7 C	-	-
2	33.6, CH ₂	2.33 (t, 7.5)	1, 3, 4
3	24.3, CH ₂	1.74 (qnt, 7.5)	1, 2, 4, 5
4	28.3, CH ₂	2.03 (dq, 7.5, 3)	3, 4, 5, 6
5	89.8, CH	5.04 (overlap)	7
6	204.0, C	-	-
7	91.4, CH	5.08 (overlap)	5
8	28.9, CH ₂	1.97 (dq, 7.5, 3)	6, 7, 9
9	29.1, CH ₂	1.38 (qnt, 7.5)	7, 8, 10
10-15	29.2-29.6, CH ₂	1.26 (overlap)	-
16	31.9, CH ₂	1.26 (overlap)	14, 15, 17, 18
17	22.7, CH ₂	1.26 (overlap)	15, 16, 18
18	14.1, CH ₃	0.88 (t, 7.0)	16, 17
1′	60.2, CH ₂	4.13 (q, 7.0)	1, 2'
2′	14.2, CH ₃	1.25 (t, 7.0)	1′

Compound **3** was obtained as a yellow oil with a molecular formula of $C_{20}H_{34}O_2$ based on the molecular ion peak at m/z 329.2448 [M + Na]⁺, indicating four degrees of unsaturation. The IR spectrum showed an absorption at 1736 cm⁻¹ which is

characteristics of carbonyl groups and the UV spectrum showed maximum absorption at 432, 413 and 472 nm.

The ¹H NMR spectrum of compound **3** indicated the presence of six olefinic protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.40 (1H, H-9), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.39 (1H, H-16), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.37 (1H, H-12), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.36 (2H, H-10 and H-13) and $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.34 (1H, H-15) which indicates the presence of three olefinic bonds. It also revealed the presence of an oxygenated methylene at $\delta_{\rm H}4.12$ (2H, q, J=7.0 Hz, H-1') and protons attributed to 10 methylenes at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.81 (2H, H-14), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.80 (2H, m, H-11), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.28 (2H, t, J=7.5 Hz, H-2), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.08 (2H, H-17), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.04 (2H, H-8), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.63 (2H, H-3) and $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.31 to 1.37 (8H, H-4 to H-7) as well as two methyl groups at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.25 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, H-2') and $\delta_{\rm H}$ 0.97 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, H-18). Examination of the ¹³C and DEPT NMR spectrum of compound 3 revealed the presence of 20 carbons which includes an ester at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 173.9 (C-1), six olefinic carbons at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 131.9 (C-16), 130.2 (C-9), $\delta_{\rm C}$ 128.3 (C-13), $\delta_{\rm C}$ 128.2 (C-12), $\delta_{\rm C}$ 127.7 (C-10), and $\delta_{\rm C}$ 127.1 (C-15), one oxymethylene carbon at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 60.1 (C-1'), 10 methylene carbons at $\delta_{\rm C}$ C-2 to C-8, C-11, C-14 and C-17 and two methyl carbons at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 14.3 (C-2') and $\delta_{\rm C}$ 14.2 (C-18). The ¹H-¹H COSY spectrum showed couplings between H-2/H-3, H-3/H-4, H-4/H-5, H-5/H-6, H-6/H-7, H-7/H-8, H-8/H-9, H-9/H-10, H-10/H-11, H-11/H-12, H-12/H-13, H-13/H-14, H-14/H-15, H-15/H-16, H-16/H-17, H-17/H-18 and H-1'/H-2' which suggests the presence of a heptadecatriene unit and an ethoxy group. The signals belonging to the ester carbonyl and the ethoxy group suggested the presence of an ethyl ester moiety which was confirmed by HMBC correlations from H-1', H-2', H-2 and H-3 to C-1, while the positions of the double bonds were confirmed by HMBC correlations from H-8 to C-9 and C-10, H-10 to C-8, H-11 to C-12 and C-13, H-13 to C-11 and H-14 to C-15 and C-16. The methyl protons H-18 also showed HMBC cross peaks to C-16 and C-17.

The geometry of the double bonds were assigned as *Z* based on previous reports that the carbon chemical shift of a methylene which is attached to an *E* double bond resonates around 33 ppm while the carbon chemical shift of a methylene attached to a *Z* double bond resonates around 27 ppm (Cardellina et al., 1983; Costantino et al., 1993; Dong et al., 2016; Li et al., 2017). According to the ¹³C NMR data, the chemical shifts of C-8 which is adjacent to C-9 is 27.2 ppm and the chemical shifts of C-11 and C-13 which are attached to C-12 and C-15 respectively is 25.2 ppm. Based on these

data the structure of compound **3** was confirmed as ethyl(9Z,12Z,15Z)-octadeca-9,12,15-trienoate. Comparison of the NMR data from this experiment with existing NMR data confirmed that ethyl(9Z,12Z,15Z)-octadeca-9,12,15-trienoate is a known compound (Huh et al., 2010). However, this is the first report on the isolation of ethyl(9Z,12Z,15Z)-octadeca-9,12,15-trienoate from *T. triandra*.

Position	$\delta_{\rm C}$ (ppm)	$\delta_{\rm H}$ (ppm, J in Hz)	COSY (H→H)	HMBC (H→C)
1	173.9, C	-	-	-
2	34.3, CH ₂	2.28 (t, <i>J</i> = 7.5)	3	1, 3, 4
3	24.9, CH ₂	1.63 (overlap)	3, 4	1, 2, 4, 5
4-7	29.1-29.5, CH ₂	1.31-1.37 (overlap)	-	-
8	27.2, CH ₂	2.04 (overlap)	7, 9	6, 7, 9, 10
9	130.2, CH	5.40 (overlap)	8, 10	7, 8, 10, 11
10	127.7, CH	5.36 (overlap)	9, 11	8, 9, 11, 12
11	25.6, CH ₂	2.80 (overlap)	10, 12	9, 10, 12, 13
12	128.2, CH	5.37 (overlap)	11, 13	10, 11, 13, 14
13	128.3, CH	5.36 (overlap)	12, 14	11, 12, 14, 15
14	25.5, CH ₂	2.81 (overlap)	13, 15	12, 13, 15, 16
15	127.1, CH	5.34 (overlap)	14, 16	13, 14, 16, 17
16	131.9, CH	5.39 (overlap)	15, 17	14, 15, 17, 18
17	20.5, CH ₂	2.08 (overlap)	16, 18	15, 16, 18
18	14.2, CH ₃	0.97 (t, $J = 7.0$)	17	16, 17
1′	60.1, CH ₂	4.12 (q, <i>J</i> = 7.0)	19	1, 2'
2'	14.3, CH ₃	1.25 (t, $J = 7.0$)	20	1′

Table 4. NMR data of compound **3** (¹H: 500 MHz, ¹³C: 125 MHz; CDCl₃).



Figure 4. Key HMBC and COSY correlations of compound 3.

Compound **4** was isolated as a yellow oil with a molecular formula of $C_{20}H_{34}O_2$. The IR spectrum exhibited a sharp absorption peak characteristic of carbonyls at 1736 cm⁻¹ and UV absorption maxima at 432, 413 and 473 nm.

The ¹H NMR spectrum of compound **4** revealed the presence of four olefinic protons at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.41 (1H, H-9), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.35 (1H, H-12), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.33 (1H, H-10) and $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.30 (1H, H-13) indicating the presence of two olefinic bonds. The ¹H NMR spectrum also showed signals of an oxygenated methylene at $\delta_{\rm H}4.13$ (2H, q, J=7.0 Hz, H-1') and signals attributed to 12 methylenes at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.78 (2H, t, J= 7.0 Hz, H-11), $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.29 (2H, t, J=7.5 Hz, H-2), $\delta_{\rm H} 2.05$ (4H, H-8 and H-14), $\delta_{\rm H} 1.65$ (2H, qnt, 7.5 Hz, H-3) and $\delta_{\rm H} 1.28$ to 1.37 (14H, H-4 to H-7 and H-15 to H-17), two methyl groups at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.25 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, H-2') and $\delta_{\rm H}$ 0.89 (3H, t, J=7.0 Hz, H-18). The ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 4 showed 20 carbon signals which includes an ester carbonyl at δ_C 173.9 (C-1), four olefinic methine carbons at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 130.2 (C-9), $\delta_{\rm C}$ 130.1 (C-12), $\delta_{\rm C}$ 128.0 (C-10) and $\delta_{\rm C}$ 127.9 (C-13), one oxygenated methylene at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 60.2 (C-1'), 12 methylenes from $\delta_{\rm C}$ 22.6 to 34.4 (C-2 to C-8, C-11, and C-14 to C-17) and two methyl carbons at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 14.2 (C-18), and $\delta_{\rm C}$ 14.1 (C-2'). The ¹H and ¹³C NMR data of compound 4 showed obvious and remarkable similarities to that of compound **3**. However, the ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 4 established that compound 4 contains four olefinic carbons and protons which corresponds to two olefinic bonds, but compound 3 has six olefinic carbons and protons which accounts for its' three olefinic bonds. The positions of the olefinic bonds were confirmed to be C-9 and C-12 based on HMBC correlations from H-8 to C-9 and C-10, H-10 to C-11 and C-12, and H-11 to C-12 and C-13.

Like compound **3**, the geometry of the double bonds was assigned as Z based on the carbon chemical shifts of the methylenes next to the double bonds (Cardellina et al., 1983; Costantino et al., 1993; Dong et al., 2016; Li et al., 2017). Based on these spectrum evidences the structure of compound **4** was deduced to be ethyl(9Z,12Z)-octadeca-9,12-dienoate. Comparisons of NMR data from this

experiment with existing NMR data revealed that compound **4** has been previously isolated (Huh et al., 2010; Park et al., 2014; Uranga et al., 2016a; Uranga et al., 2016b). However, this is the first report on the isolation ethyl(9*Z*,12*Z*)-octadeca-9,12-dienoate from *T. triandra*.

Position	$\delta_{ m C}$ (ppm)	$\delta_{\rm H}$ (ppm, J in Hz)	HMBC (H \rightarrow C)
1	173.9, C	-	-
2	34.4, CH ₂	2.29 (t, 7.5)	1, 3, 4
3	24.9, CH ₂	1.65 (qnt, 7.5)	1, 2, 4, 5
4-7	29.1–29.4, CH ₂	1.28-1.37 (overlap)	-
8	27.2, CH ₂	2.05 (q, 7.5)	6, 7, 9, 10
9	130.2, CH	5.41 (overlap)	7, 8, 10, 11
10	128.0, CH	5.33 (overlap)	8, 9, 11, 12
11	25.6, CH ₂	2.78 (t, 7.0)	9, 10, 12, 13
12	130.1, CH	5.35 (overlap)	10, 11, 13, 14
13	127.9, CH	5.30 (overlap)	11, 12, 14, 15
14	27.2, CH ₂	2.05 (q, 7.5)	12, 13, 15, 16
15	31.5, CH ₂	1.28 1.37 (overlap)	13, 14, 16, 17
16	29.6, CH ₂	1.28-1.37 (overlap)	14, 15, 17, 18
17	22.6, CH ₂	1.28-1.37 (overlap)	15, 16, 18
18	14.2, CH ₃	0.89 (t, 7.0)	16, 17
1′	60.2, CH ₂	4.13 (q, 7.0)	1, 2'
2′	14.1, CH ₃	1.25 (t, 7.0)	1′

Table 5. NMR data of compound 4 (¹H: 500 MHz, ¹³C: 125 MHz; CDCl₃)



Figure 5. Key HMBC correlations of compound 4.

3.2. Pharmacological studies

3.2.1. Alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitory activities

In this study, the crude ethanol extract of the whole aerial part of as well as the hexane and ethyl acetate fractions of the leaves and twigs of *T. triandra* were found to display alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitory activities (Table 6). The alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity of TT-crude was about 5 times better than acarbose. Furthermore, fractions TT-002, TT-004 and TT-005 displayed the best α -glucosidase inhibitory activities amongst all the tested fractios as their IC₅₀ values were over 61, 85 and 95 times better than of acarbose, respectively, while fraction TT-001 displayed a poorer activity when compared to acarbose. The alpha-amylase inhibitory activity of TT-crude (97.23 µg/mL) was slightly better than acarbose (114.67 µg/mL). Also, all fractions of *T. triandra* showed alpha-amylase inhibitory activity. TT-001 and TT-004 showed the best activity of 94.41 and 93.74 µg/mL respectively, which was better than the activity of acarbose while the activity of TT-005 at 115.46 µg/mL was comparable to acarbose. These findings confirmed that *T. triandra* possesses antidiabetic activity providing a good basis for the isolation of its antidiabetic constituents.

Compounds 1, 2, 3 and 4 also displayed potent alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity at IC₅₀ of 11.58, 105.61, 104.77 and 424.06 μ M, respectively. Compound 1 displayed the best activity which was 43 times better than acarbose (500.91 μ M). The activities of compounds 2 and 3 were 4.7 times better than acarbose while that of compound 4 was comparable to acarbose. Furthermore, only compound 1 demonstrated α -amylase inhibitory activity at an IC₅₀ of 26.27 μ M which was 6.8 times better than acarbose which had an IC₅₀ of 177.65 μ M (Table 6). Consequently, compound 1 being the most potent of all the isolated compounds from the aerial part of *T. triandra* was chosen for the *in vivo* experiment.

	alpha-glucosidase (µg/mL)	alpha-glucosidase (µM)	alpha-amylase (µg/mL)	alpha-amylase (µM)
TT-crude	67.47 ± 0.34^{a}	-	97.23 ± 0.42^{a}	-
TT-001	497.45 ± 0.03^{b}	-	94.41 ± 0.08^{b}	-
TT-002	$5.24\pm0.08^{\rm c}$	-	323.03 ± 0.09^{c}	-
TT-004	3.40 ± 0.06^{d}	-	93.74 ± 0.05^{b}	-
TT-005	3.77 ± 0.08^{d}	-	155.46 ± 0.06^d	-
Compound 1	3.66 ± 0.04^{d}	$11.58\pm0.32^{\rm a}$	8.30 ± 0.45^{e}	26.27 ± 1.11^{a}
Compound 2	37.81 ± 0.09^{e}	$105.61\pm6.12^{\text{b}}$	NA	NA
Compound 3	$31.85\pm0.09^{\rm f}$	104.77 ± 4.56^{b}	NA	NA
Compound 4	130.61 ± 3.67^{g}	$424.06\pm15.25^{\text{c}}$	NA	NA
Acarbose	323.39 ± 0.02^h	500.91 ± 10.26^{d}	$114.67\pm0.12^{\rm f}$	177.65 ± 0.88^b

Table 6. Alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitory activities (IC₅₀).

TT-crude: ethanol extract of the whole aerial part, TT-001: hexane fraction of leaves, TT-002: ethyl acetate fraction of leaves, TT-004: hexane fraction of twig, TT-005 ethyl acetate fraction of twigs, NA: Not Active. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). Values having different lowercase letters as superscript across the same column indicates significant differences (p < 0.05).

The results also revealed that the fractions and constituents of *T. triandra* are better inhibitors of alpha-glucosidase rather than alpha-amylase. This gives an edge to *T. triandra* and its constituents over existing synthetic alpha-glucosidase and α -amylase inhibitors. This is because the excessive inhibition of alpha-amylase enzyme which occurs with the use of synthetic drugs has been associated with undesirable and sometimes severe side effects such as abdominal cramps, flatulence, diarrhea and bloating (Fujisawa et al., 2005). Keeping postprandial blood glucose level within normal limits (FBG between 70 and 126 mg/dL) is very pivotal in the management of diabetes and the inhibition of alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase enzymes offers a very effective means of lowering the postprandial blood glucose. This underscores the relevance of alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitors in the management of diabetes (Ademiluyi and Oboh, 2013; Kazeem et al., 2013; Kasipandi et al., 2019).

3.2.2. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on fasting blood glucose, HbA1c and insulin level

HFD/STZ induced diabetes caused a marked increase in the fasting blood glucose (FBG) of the rats in the DC groups. However, treatment with 100 and 400 mg/kg of extract and 25 mg/kg DHA reduced the FBG level of the treated groups by 70%, 66% and 74%, respectively (Fig 6A). A key characteristic of diabetes is the sustained and exponential increase in blood glucose also known as hyperglycemia. Hyperglycemia is chiefly responsible for most of the complications associated with diabetes and findings in this study shows that *T. triandra* extract and DHA are able to reverse hyperglycemia.

The HbA1c level of the rats in the DC group increased significantly as a result of diabetes (5.68%) when compared to the NC group (2.42%). However, this was reversed by treatment with 100 and 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra* extract and 25 mg/kg of DHA. There was a reduction in the HbA1c level observed in the treated groups, the HbA1c level in TT100, TT400 and DHA25 was found to be 3.2%, 3.04% and 3.1%, respectively (Fig 6B). As observed in the DC group, diabetes is characterized by an increased level of HbA1c which is a product formed from the non-enzymatic reaction of glucose and free amino acid of haemoglobin. Hb1Ac is a biomarker used to confirm long-term glycemic control. It is also used to predict the chances of development or

progression of diabetes related complications (Sherwani et al., 2016). Past studies showed that a 10% reduction in Hb1Ac levels in diabetic patients reduced the risk of diabetic nephropathy, neuropathy and retinopathy by 25-44%, 30% and 35%, respectively (Ullah et al., 2017). This further shows that *T. triandra* and DHA have the potential to restore glycemic control and reduce the risk of diabetes associated complications.



Figure 6A-C. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on FBG, HbA1c and insulin level. NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

In contrast to the NC group which had an insulin level of 9.78 μ U/mL, diabetes caused a marked reduction of the insulin level of rats in the DC group (3.48 μ U/mL). Secretion of insulin was boosted by treatment with 100 and 400 mg/kg of *T*. *triandra* extract and 25 mg/kg of DHA. DHA showed the best insulinotropic activity with insulin level of 8.24 μ U/mL followed by 400 mg/kg and then 100 mg/kg of *T*. *triandra* extract with their insulin level at 7.40 and 5.36 μ U/mL respectively (Fig. 6C).

Insulin is mainly responsible for glucose absorption from the blood stream, hence an impairment of insulin function results in hyperglycemia (Egan and Dinneen, 2019; Martinez et al., 2019). Findings from this study revealed that DHA and the ethanol extract of *T. triandra* ameliorated hyperglycemia by stimulating insulin secretion from the pancreatic β -cells. This agrees with previous report that the ethanol extract of leaves of *T. triandra* reduced hyperglycemia through the stimulation of insulin secretion (Katisart and Rattana, 2017).

3.2.3. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test

A marked increase in the blood glucose level of the animals in DC group was observed after glucose administration. The DC group showed a steady increase in blood glucose level from 506.8 mg/dL at 0 min to over 600 mg/dL after 120 mins. However, the blood glucose level of the TT100, TT400 and DHA25 groups were found to be significantly lower than DC group and comparable to NC group. After 120 mins, the blood glucose levels of NC, TT100, TT400 and DHA25 groups were 106, 120, 114 and 118 mg/dL, respectively (Fig.7).



Figure 7. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test. NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

These results suggest that administration of the *T. triandra* extract and DHA improved glycemic control of the diabetic rat by enhancing glucose homeostasis. Glucose tolerance test is used to determine the extent of body glucose homeostasis, to establish the extent of glycemic control, insulin resistance and impaired β -cell function. Glucose tolerance test is also used to diagnose diabetes (Bartoli et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2017; Chanprasertpinyo et al., 2017). Persons with impaired glucose tolerance have a higher risk of developing cardiovascular diseases and other diabetes associated complications (DeFronzo and Abdul-Ghani, 2011; Nathan et al., 2007).

3.2.4. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on food intake, water intake and body weight

Diabetes caused an upsurge in the rate of food and water consumption of the rats in the DC group when compared to the NC group. Each rat in DC group consumed an average of 45.33 g of food and 280.19 ml of water daily while each rat in NC group consumed an average of 33.37 g of food and 43.77 mL of water daily. Treatment with *T. triandra* extract and DHA caused a marked reduction in the food and water intake of the treated groups. TT100 group consumed 37.17 g of food and 106.44 ml of water daily, while the daily food and water intake rate of DHA25 group was 35.54 g and 106.88 mL, respectively (Fig. 8A-B). Increased food and water consumption are common symptoms observed in diabetes and this is because impaired insulin function causes glucose which is needed in the body for cellular energy to accumulate in the blood rather than being taken up by the cells. This essentially increases the demand for glucose by body cells and consequently results in increased appetite called polyphagia which is usually accompanied by increased water intake called polydipsia (Oyedemi et al., 2011b).

After 30 days the body weight of the rats in NC group increased by 27.7% but there was a 3.95% reduction in the weight of the rats in DC group. Treatment however caused 27.4%, 26.0% and 14.5% increase in the body weights of TT100, TT400 and DHA25 groups respectively (Fig. 8C). Weight loss is a common occurrence in diabetic patients and this usually arises from the degradation of structural proteins or muscle wasting. In hyperglycemic conditions, glucose is not available for the body cells

to use as energy therefore the body burns structural fats and muscles to supply the needed energy. This essentially results in a marked reduction in body weight of diabetic patients (Oyedemi et al., 2011b; Chandran et al., 2014; Adefegha et al., 2016). Results obtained from this study showed that *T. triandra* extract and DHA ameliorated body weight loss, polydipsia and polyphagia which is attributable to improved glucose metabolism.



Figure 8A-C. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on body weight, food and water intake. NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

3.2.5. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on HOMA-IR and HOMA-β

There was a significant increase in the HOMA-IR of rats in DC group when compared to the NC group, but treatment with 100 and 400 mg/kg of the extract and 25 mg/kg of DHA caused a significant reduction of the HOMA-IR values for all the treated groups. HOMA-IR is a model used to estimate the degree of insulin resistance and it is considered an effective biomarker for the prediction of insulin sensitivity (Xia et al., 2019). The observed reduction in HOMA-IR value of the treated diabetic rats indicates the alleviation of insulin resistance and enhanced insulin sensitivity (Fig. 9A).

In contrast to the NC group, the results from this study revealed that there was a decline in the pancreatic β -cell function of the DC group as indicated by their very low HOMA- β value, but there was a marked improvement in pancreatic β -cell function of TT100, TT400 and DHA25 groups as indicated by their higher HOMA- β values. (Fig. 9B). HOMA- β is a mathematical homeostatic model used to estimate pancreatic β -cell function (Khamchan et al., 2018). Hence, these results suggest that treatment with *T. triandra* extract and DHA enhanced the β -cell function of the treated diabetic groups.



Figure 9A-B. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on HOMA-IR, HOMA- β and HbA1c. NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean ± SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

3.2.6. Effect of T. triandra extract and DHA on lipid profile

The concentration of serum TC, TG, LDL-C and HDL was significantly higher in the DC group (97.78, 100, 69.67 and 15.02 mg/dL, respectively) when compared to NC group (71.60, 34.70, 31.23 and 12.22 mg/dL, respectively). The concentration of TC, TG, LDL-C and HDL was lower in the treated diabetic groups in comparison to the DC group except in TT100 group which had a higher concentration of TG of 12.30 mg/dL Fig. 10A-D).



Figure 10A-D. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on lipid profile. NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of T. triandra, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of T. triandra, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

Previous research evidences have confirmed that diabetes is accompanied by imbalances in lipid profile and that diabetes patients have a higher risk of developing hyperlipidemia. This is because insulin deficiency causes lipids to accumulate in the blood which blocks the blood vessels and increases the risk of cardiovascular diseases, a common complication in diabetes (Mooradian, 2009; Chandran et al., 2014; Adefegha et al., 2014; Giribabu et al., 2014). The enzyme lipoprotein lipase is responsible for the hydrolysis of triglycerides in the body and this enzyme is normally activated by insulin but not in sufficient quantities when insulin function is impaired. This results in elevated level of triglycerides, a condition called hypertriglyceridemia (Kumar et al., 2015b). Furthermore, hormone sensitive lipase which liberates free fatty acids from the adipose tissues can be activated due to lack of insulin thereby causing an increase in the level of serum lipids (Mollica et al., 2017). Results obtained from this experiment shows that the extract of *T. triandra* and DHA restored the lipid profile of the treated rats.

3.2.7. Effect of T. triandra extract and DHA on liver function enzymes

The DC group had very high serum concentrations of ALT (836.0 U/L), AST (330.0 U/L) and ALP (235 U/L) when compared to NC group which had a much lower AST, ALT and ALP concentrations of 102.2, 55.0 and 83.4 U/L, respectively. Treatment with *T. triandra* extract and DHA suppressed the serum concentration of AST, ALT and ALP in the TT100, TT400 and DHA25 groups (Fig. 11A-C). The concentrations of AST, ALT and ALP was 356.26, 211.25 and 139.5 U/L, respectively in TT100 group; 176.50 U/L, 137.25 U/L and 89.60 U/L respectively in TT400 group and 215.00 U/L, 125.00 U/L and 125.33 U/L, respectively in DHA group.



Figure 11A-C. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on liver enzymes. NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of T. triandra, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of T. triandra, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

The liver is an important organ in the body because it performs pivotal metabolic functions. The liver is responsible for carbohydrate and lipid metabolism as well as insulin clearance and glucose regulation. However, the ability of the liver to perform these functions effectively is impeded in diabetic conditions (Chaudhary et al., 2016; Johnson et al., 2019). Elevated levels of ALT, AST and ALP are well-known markers of hepatocellular damage. These liver enzymes are normally present in the liver in small quantities. However, the level of these enzymes increases and leaks into the blood as a result of hyperglycemia induced hepatic injury (Balakrishnan et al., 2019; Goboza et al., 2019). Observations made in this study revealed that treatment with *T. triandra* extract and DHA ameliorated diabetes induced liver injury in the treated diabetic rats.

3.2.8. Effect of T. triandra extract and DHA on serum protein levels

When compared to the NC group which had total protein concentration of 6.02 g/dL, albumin concentration of 2.66 g/dL and globulin concentration of 2.44 g/dL, the DC group had lower concentrations of the total protein, albumin and globulin which were 4.97, 2.44 and 2.43 g/dL respectively. This trend was reversed by treatment with 100 and 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra* extract and 25 mg/kg of DHA. TT100, TT400 and DHA25 groups had serum total protein concentration of 5.63, 5.42 and 5.35 g/dL respectively, albumin concentration of 2.70, 2.78, 2.70 g/dL respectively and globulin concentration of 2.93, 2.56, 2.47 g/dL, respectively (Fig. 12A-C). Low level of serum albumin, globulin and total protein as seen in the DC group is also an indictive of liver injury. Hyperglycemia is known to cause the breakdown and degradation of structural proteins due to increased conversion of amino acids into glucose to meet the energy demands of the body cells which imparts the synthesis of proteins such as albumin and globulin negatively (Ekperikpe et al., 2019; Goboza et al., 2019).

3.2.9. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on serum bilirubin levels

The DC group had a significantly higher level of total and direct bilirubin (0.46 mg/dL and 0.25 mg/dL, respectively) when compared to NC group which had a total bilirubin content of 0.31 mg/dL and direct bilirubin content of 0.20 mg/dL. Elevated bilirubin level as observed in the DC group is an indicator of hepatic injury and this can be attributed to decreased uptake of bilirubin by the liver, decreased bilirubin conjugation and increased bilirubin formation (Ekperikpe et al., 2019). When compared to the DC group, it was found that treatment with *T. triandra* extract and DHA caused a marked decrease in the total bilirubin level of TT100, TT400 and DHA25 groups (0.17 mg/dL, 0.13 mg/dL and 0.18 mg/dL, respectively) and there was

also a significant reduction of the direct bilirubin concentrations in TT400 and DHA25 groups (0.14 and 0.05 mg/dL respectively). However, treatment with 100 mg/kg of *T*. *triandra* extract did not cause any reduction in the direct bilirubin level (Fig. 13A-B).



Figure 12A-C. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on serum protein levels. NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

3.2.10. Effect of T. triandra extract and DHA on blood urea nitrogen and creatinine

There was a significant increase in the serum BUN and creatinine levels of the untreated DC group (BUN: 41.25 mg/dL, creatinine: 0.43 mg/dL) when compared to the NC group (BUN: 23.85 mg/dL, creatinine: 0.34 mg/dL). However, there was an obvious reduction of BUN in all the treated groups (TT100: 23.97 mg/dL, TT400: 20.03 mg/dL and DHA25: 16.57 mg/dL) while there was also an insignificant decrease in the level of creatinine of rats in TT400 (0.38 mg/dL) and DHA25 (0.41 mg/dL) groups. Whereas, TT100 group exhibited lower creatinine level than TT400 and DHA25 at 0.33 mg/dL (Fig. 14). Elevated levels of BUN and creatinine is a sign of renal dysfunction

which is one of the many abnormalities caused by diabetes (Kotha et al., 2019). Creatinine is generated as a waste product during muscle contraction while BUN is generated as a byproduct during the breakdown of protein. The kidney is responsible for the excretion of both BUN and creatinine and assaults on the kidney causes BUN and creatinine to accumulate in the blood (Al-Attar and Alsalmi, 2019). Based on these discoveries it is evident that *T. triandra* and DHA has a protective effect on the kidney.



Figure 13A-B. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on bilirubin levels. NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.



Figure 14A-B. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on BUN and creatinine. NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra*, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

3.2.11. Effect of T. triandra extract and DHA on serum electrolytes

In this study, there was no significant difference in the level of Na⁺ across all the groups. However, there was a marked decrease in the level of K⁺ (hypokalemia) in the rats in DC group (4.73 mEq/L) compared to the NC group (9.34 mEq/L). This was reversed by treatment with 400 mg/kg of extract and 25 mg/kg of DHA. The serum concentration of K⁺ in the TT400 group was 7.67 mEq/L and that of DHA25 was 4.8 mEq/L. Diabetes is characterized by distortions in electrolyte homeostasis caused by polyuria which accelerates electrolyte loss in the body due to increased osmotic diuresis. Loss of electrolytes such as sodium (Na⁺) and potassium (K⁺) are indicators of diabetic nephropathy and it also predisposes diabetic patients to hypovolumic shock which can lead to death in uncontrolled diabetes mellitus (Atangwho et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2016; Ogar et al., 2019).

It was observed that diabetes caused an obvious increase in TCO₂ level of the DC group (26.3 mEq/L) which was significantly suppressed by treatment with 400 mg/kg of extract (20.2 mEq/L). An insignificant reduction of TCO₂ was also observed in the DHA25 group (25.5 mEq/L) but there was no noticeable change in TT100 group. The concentration of CO₂ in the blood is a useful index for the monitoring of blood acidity (Ogar et al., 2019). Furthermore, hypochloremia which is a decrease in the concentration of blood Cl⁻ was observed in the DC group. This was reversed by treatment with 25 mg/kg of DHA but treatment with 100 mg/kg and 400 mg/kg of the extract showed no effect on hypochloremia.

Except for DHA25 group which had a serum Cl⁻ concentration of 10.25 mEq/L, the Cl⁻ level of the all the diabetic groups were slightly lower when compared to the NC group (101.2 mEq/L). The Cl⁻ concentration in DC, TT100 and TT400 groups were 97.2, 96.3 and 95.2 mEq/L respectively. The increased CO₂ level and decreased level of chloride (Cl⁻) of the DC group as observed in this study is indicative of blood alkalinity, a condition called ketoalkalosis (Ogar et al., 2019). Although there are fewer reports on diabetic ketoalkalosis when compared to ketoacidosis which is more frequently encountered in diabetes mellitus, the observations made in this study agrees with previous reports that dehydration due to osmotic diuresis in combination with hyperglycemia can cause ketoalkalosis (Kumar et al., 2018, Yasuda et al., 2016).

	Na ⁺ (mEq/L)	K ⁺ (mEq/L)	Cl ⁻ (mEq/L)	TCO ₂ (mEq/L)
NC	141.80 ± 1.64	9.34 ± 0.96	101.20 ± 1.92	17.00 ± 1.58
DC	142.80 ± 3.03	$4.73 \pm 0.44^{*}$	97.20 ± 3.56	$26.33 \pm 2.31^{*}$
TT100	144.25 ± 1.50	$3.95\pm0.65^{\#}$	96.25 ± 0.50	26.75 ± 1.50
TT400	141.60 ± 1.82	$7.07\pm0.38^{\#}$	95.20 ± 1.64	$20.20\pm1.30^{\#}$
DHA25	146.25 ± 1.71	$4.80\pm0.17^{\#}$	$102.50 \pm 1.29^{\#}$	$25.50 \pm 1.29^{\#}$

Table 7. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on serum electrolytes.

NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of T. triandra, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of T. triandra, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

3.2.12. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on haematological parameters

Haematological parameters provides valuable insights into the overall health status of patients and it is very instrumental in the diagnosis of various diseases. Disturbances in haematological parameters are frequent occurrences in diabetes (Oyedemi et al., 2011a; Dalar et al., 2018). The decreased level of red blood cell parameters such as red blood cell count (RBC), haemoglobin (Hb), hematocrit (HCT), mean corpuscular volume (MCV), mean corpuscular haemoglobin (MCH), mean corpuscular haemoglobin concentration (MCHC), red cell distribution width (RDW) as witnessed in the diabetic control group is indicative of anaemia (Pradeep and Srinivasan, 2018; Erukainure et al., 2013). In this study, treatment with 25 mg/kg DHA ameliorated anaemia through enhancement the RBC parameters of animals in DHA group, while 100 and 400 mg/kg of extract showed no effect on anaemia (Table 8).

Hyperglycemia causes an increase in the generation of free radicals and reactive oxygen species (ROS) which oxidizes proteins, consequently resulting to lipid peroxidation. Increased level of lipid peroxides causes the haemolysis of RBCs and by extension anaemia (Ekperipe et al., 2019; Chaudhary et al., 2016; Kolanjiappan et al., 2002). Another factor responsible for anaemia is the deficiency in erythropoietin secretion caused by diabetic nephropathy. Erythropoietin is a hormone secreted by the kidney to stimulate the production of RBCs from the bone marrow and insults to the kidney can affect the secretion of this hormone (Pradeep and Srinivasan, 2018; Chaudhary et al., 2016; Ekperipe et al., 2019). Anaemia is a risk factor for cardiovascular diseases in people suffering from diabetes (Medhi and Toto, 2009). The ameliorative effect of DHA on anaemia might be due to its ability to reduce the glycation of RBC membrane proteins or its ability to attenuate diabetic nephropathy or both.

There was a decrease in the level of white blood cell (WBC) and lymphocyte (LYM) as well an increased level of monocytes (MON) and neutrophils (NEU) in the diabetic control rats. However, treatment with 25 mg/kg of DHA increased the WBC and LYM while there was no improvement in TT100 and TT400 groups. Furthermore, 100 and 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra* extract as well as 25 mg/kg of DHA caused a marked decreased in the level of MON and NEU. The diminished level of WBC count and LYM as well as the increased level of MON and NEU in the untreated diabetic rats indicates immunosuppression, because these cells are vital components of the immune system. Suppression of the immune system can contribute to the progression of diabetes associated complications (Oyedemi et al., 2011a; Rashid et al., 2019; Abdellatief et al., 2017). High platelets count as observed in the DC group can be attributed to poor glycemic control, inflammation and presence of infections (Ekperipe et al., 2019; Osigwe et al., 2017). However, this was reversed by treatment with *T. triandra* extract in TT100 and TT400 as indicated by their low platelet counts.

	NC	DC	TT100	TT400	DHA25
RBC (10 ¹² /L)	9.308 ± 0.24	$6.32 \pm 1.26^{*}$	$4.76 \pm 0.93^{\#}$	$4.87\pm0.66^{\#}$	9.40 ± 0.21
Hb (g/dL)	16.62 ± 0.50	$11.86 \pm 2.10^{*}$	$9.00\pm1.47^{\#}$	$9.23\pm0.68^{\#}$	15.63 ± 3.05
HCT (%)	49.3 ± 2.24	$33.56 \pm 6.99^{*}$	$30.4\pm5.65^{\#}$	$25.45 \pm 3.14^{\#}$	$50.40 \pm 0.61^{\#}$
MCV (fL)	53.2 ± 1.48	52.8 ± 1.48	51.5 ± 0.57	52.6 ± 1.81	53.5 ± 1.00
MCH (pg)	18.88 ± 0.56	17.82 ± 0.43	18.8 ± 0.67	18.94 ± 1.15	19.68 ± 2.83
MCHC (g/dL)	35.58 ± 1.18	$33.68 \pm 0.64^{*}$	36.3 ± 1.22	35.98 ± 2.38	$36.85 \pm 5.67^{\#}$
RDW (%)	11.96 ± 0.50	11.56 ± 0.74	11.75 ± 0.34	11.6 ± 0.99	11.68 ± 1.30

Table 8. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA25 on RBC parameters.

NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of T. triandra, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of T. triandra, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

	NC	DC	TT100	TT400	DHA25
WBC x 10 ³ (cells/m ³)	4.83 ± 0.70	4.35 ± 0.64	3.55 ±0.49	$2.30\pm0.14^{\#}$	$6.20 \pm 1.91^{\#}$
Neu (%)	26.00 ± 2.00	$30.00\pm4.00^{\ast}$	$14.50\pm0.71^{\#}$	$13.00\pm1.00^{\#}$	$13.75 \pm 4.03^{\#}$
Lym (%)	78.00 ± 6.24	$59.67 \pm 3.01^{*}$	$71.33 \pm 8.02^{\#}$	$73.5\pm5.92^{\#}$	$75.25 \pm 6.95^{\#}$
Mo (%)	4.75 ± 0.5	$11.75\pm1.5^*$	$4.67\pm0.58^{\#}$	$7.67 \pm 1.53^{\#}$	$8.50\pm0.71^{\#}$
PLT x 10^3	119.00 ± 1.00	$611.67 \pm 34.67^{\ast}$	$163.00\pm 32.57^{\#}$	$191.67 \pm 41.28^{\#}$	$722.37 \pm 151.45^{\#}$
(cells/m ³)					

Table 9. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA of WBC parameters.

NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of T. triandra, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of T. triandra, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

3.2.13. Effect of T. triandra extract and DHA on liver, kidney and testes index

No significant change was noticed in the liver index of the animals across all groups the diabetic groups when compared to the NC. There was also no obvious difference in the kidney index of the across all groups except in the DHA25 group reduced significantly when compared. There was a marked reduction of the testes index of the DC group when compared to the NC group which indicates necrosis of the testes. However, this was reversed significantly by treatment with 100 and 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra* extract, while the testes index of the DHA25 group was comparable to DC group (Table 10).

Organ index is used as a parameter for the prediction of injury, physiological disturbance or toxicity of target organs. An increase in organ weights suggests hypertrophy while a decrease suggests necrosis of the organ in question. Although organ weights provide very vital information, data from organ index must be interpreted alongside clinical parameters and histopathological findings on the organ in question (Sellers et al., 2007; Teo et al., 2002; Ugwah-Oguejiofor et al., 2019). Except for data obtained from the testicular index which suggests testicular necrosis, results obtained for the liver and kidney index in this study were largely comparable. However, interpreting these data alongside other results like lipid profile, liver function enzymes, serum protein, bilirubin, BUN and creatinine levels as well as the histological observations indicates that extract of *T. triandra* and DHA displayed protective effects on the liver, kidney and testes.

	Liver		Kidney		Testes	
	Weight (g)	Liver index	Weight (g)	Kidney index	Weight (g)	Testes index
NC	21.50 ± 3.11	0.034 ± 0.004	6.20 ± 1.64	0.010 ± 0.002	6.60 ± 0.89	0.011 ± 0.001
DC	$14.28\pm1.29^*$	0.035 ± 0.007	$4.50\pm0.44^*$	0.010 ± 0.006	$3.53\pm0.23^*$	$0.008 \pm 0.003^{*}$
TT100	$17.50 \pm 0.71^{\#}$	0.032 ± 0.002	$5.75\pm0.50^{\#}$	0.010 ± 0.004	$5.50\pm0.58^{\#}$	$0.010 \pm 0.001^{\#}$
TT400	$16.80 \pm 1.64^{\#}$	0.033 ± 0.004	$5.60\pm0.89^{\#}$	0.010 ± 0.001	$4.20\pm1.30^{\#}$	$0.010 \pm 0.001^{\#}$
SS025	$17.12\pm0.99^{\#}$	0.033 ± 0.004	$3.86\pm0.32^{\#}$	$0.008 \pm 0.001^{\#}$	3.62 ± 0.17	0.007 ± 0.08

Table 10. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on liver, kidney and testicular index.

NC: Normal control, DC: Diabetic control, TT100: treated with 100 mg/kg of T. triandra, TT400: treated with 400 mg/kg of T. triandra, DHA25: treated with 25 mg/kg of compound **1**. Data were expressed as mean \pm SD (n=5). *p<0.05 when DC is compared to NC; #p<0.05 when TT100, TT400 and DHA25 are compared to DC.

3.2.14. Effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on the pancreatic histology

Histological examination revealed that the pancreas of the NC group had normal morphology and architecture with normal islets and no signs of injuries. Their islets of Langerhans (encircled) were also larger than the islets of DC group (Fig. 15A). However, there were abnormalities in the pancreatic tissue architecture of the DC rats and obvious destruction of the islets of Langerhans of DC group as indicated by their smaller sizes and reduced β -cell mass (Fig. 15B). These observations are consistent with previous reports (Chaudhary et al., 2016.; Ekperikpe et al., 2019; Katisart and Rattana, 2017; Kotha et al., 2019) and it explains why there was a significant drop in the insulin level of the diabetic rats, since the β -cells of the islets of Langerhans are critical to insulin function (Matveyenko and butler, 2008). The pancreas of the animals in TT100, TT400 and DHA25 groups showed varying signs of regeneration with larger islets and increased β -cell mass compared to the DC group (Fig. 15C-D).



Figure 15A-E. Picture showing the effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA the pancreas (Magnification: 40x). Circle: Islet of Langerhans. A: Normal control, B: Diabetic control, C: TT100, D: TT400, E: DHA25.

The apoptosis and dysfunction of the pancreatic β -cells is a key factor in the etiology of diabetes. Diabetes occurs due to the failure of the β -cells to secret insulin or due to a decline in insulin function which is usually a consequence of impaired β -cell function and reduced β -cell mass (Khamchan et al., 2018; Matveyenko and Butler, 2008; Meier and Bonadonna, 2013). These anomalies where reversed in all the treated

groups which agrees with the findings in this research that *T. triandra* extract and DHA reduced hyperglycemia by enhancing insulin secretion.

3.2.15. Effect of T. triandra extract and DHA on hepatic histology

Histological examinations revealed that the liver of the NC rats showed normal morphology which includes normal central vein (encircled) and well arranged hepatic cells with distinct nucleus (Fig. 16A). The rats in the DC group had abnormal architecture with irregular and swollen liver cells (short arrow), irregular cavities (arrowhead), excessively prominent central vein (encircled) and necrotic hepatocytes (long arrow) (Fig. 16B). These changes agrees with previous reports on the effect of diabetes on the liver (Ekperipe et al., 2019; Li et al., 2019). It was found that treatment with 100 and 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra* extract and 25 mg/kg of DHA reversed hepatic damage as their liver showed similar architecture to the NC group (Fig. 16C-E).



Figure 16A-E. Picture showing the ffect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on the hepatic histology (Magnification: 40x). Circle: Central vein, Arrowhead: Irregular cavities, Short arrow: Liver cells, Long arrow: Hepatocytes. A: Normal control, B: Diabetic control, C: TT100, D: TT400, E: DHA25.

3.2.16. Effect of T. triandra extract and DHA on renal histology

The kidney of the normal rats showed normal histological feature with detailed renal parenchyma, intact glomeruli and normal tubules while the renal corpuscles (encircled) appeared as dense, round shaped structures (Fig. 18A). The

untreated diabetic rats showed deformed renal architecture with atrophied renal corpuscles and degenerated glomeruli (Fig. 17B). These observations are consistent with previous reports on the effect of diabetes on renal histopathological changes (Rashid et al., 2019; Han et al., 2019; Chandran et al., 2016). The kidney of the TT100, TT400 and DHA25 groups showed obvious signs of regeneration as indicated by their improved overall renal architecture and dense round shaped corpuscles which appears bigger compared to the DC group (Fig. 17C-E). These observations agree with previous reports and confirms that *T. triandra* and DHA can protect against kidney damage, which is one of the most severe complications that is associated with diabetes (Ekperipe et al., 2019).



Figure 17A-E. Picture showing the effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on renal histology (Magnification: 40x). Circle: Renal corposcules. A: Normal control, B: Diabetic control, C: TT100, D: TT400, E: DHA25.

3.2.17. Effect of T. triandra extract and DHA on testicular histology

The testes of rats in NC group showed normal histological morphology with normal seminiferous tubules and normal spermatogonial cells (Fig. 18A). However, there was severe damages to the testes of the rats in the DC group due to apoptosis which was enhanced by diabetes. The testicular degeneration observed in the DC group was characterized by atrophic seminiferous tubules (long arrow) and significant loss of spermatogonial cells (short arrow) (Fig. 18B). These observations are consistent with previous reports with respect to the effect of diabetes on the testes (Soliman et al., 2019; Khosravi et al., 2019; Koroglu et al., 2015). Treatment with 100 and 400 mg/kg of *T. triandra* extract and 25 mg/kg of DHA reversed these alterations in the TT100, TT400 and DHA25 groups as their testes had close resemblance to that of the NC group (Fig. 18C-E).

Numerous evidences have linked diabetes to sexual dysfunctions and infertility in both male and female. Almost 90% of individual living with diabetes suffer from sexual dysfunction which includes impotence, infertility and decreased libido. Testicular dysfunctions causes impairment of spermatogenic functions which leads to erectile dysfunction in men (Soliman et al., 2019; Koroglu et al., 2015). These observations also agrees with the data obtained from testes index which suggested that there was a necrosis of the testes. Hence, *T. triandra* and DHA demonstrated the potential to prevent or reverse diabetes induced sexual dysfunction.



Figure 18A-E. Picture showing the effect of *T. triandra* extract and DHA on the testicular histology. (Magnification: 40x). Long arrow: Seminiferous tubule, Short arrow: Spermatogonial cells. A: Normal control, B: Diabetic control, C: TT100, D: TT400, E: DHA25.

Chapter 4

Conclusion

This research was focused on establishing the antidiabetic activity of *T*. *triandra* as well as identifying the antidiabetic constituents. This investigation led to the isolation of four compounds; 5,7-dihydroxyl-6-oxoheptadecanoic acid (1), ethyl, 5,7-dihydroxyl-6-oxooctadecanoate (2), (9Z,12Z,15Z)-ethyl octadeca-9,12,15-trienoate (3) (9Z,12Z)-ethyl octadeca-9,12-dienoate (4).

The crude ethanol extract of the aerial part of *T. triandra* and fractions TT-001, T-002, TT-004 and TT-005 showed inhibitory activity against alpha-glucosidase enzyme at IC₅₀ values of 67.47, 497.45, 5.24, 3.40, and 3.77 µg/mL, respectively, as well as alpha-amylase inhibitory activity at IC₅₀ values of 97.23, 94.41, 323.03, 93.74, and 155.46 µg/mL, respectively. All the isolated compounds were also assessed for their alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase inhibitory activity. Compound **1** showed α glucosidase inhibitory activity at IC₅₀ value of 11.58 µM and α -amylase inhibitory activity at 22.27 µM, while compounds **2**, **3**, and **4** all showed inhibitory activity against α -glucosidase enzyme at IC₅₀ values of 104.77, 424.06 and 105.61 µM, respectively.

Compound **1** (25 mg/kg) and the ethanol extract (100 and 400 mg/kg) of the aerial parts of *T. triandra* also displayed good antidiabetic potentials in high fat dietstreptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Treatment for 30 days caused a suppression of hyperglycemia, increased insulin secretion, improved body weight, and regenerated pancreatic β -cells of the animals. Furthermore, treatment with *T.triandra* extract and compound **1** also alleviated insulin resistance and restored β -cell function as indicated by the HOMA-IR and HOMA- β values. Reduction in the level of glycated hemoglobin of the treated animals proved that treatment with the extract and compound **1** improved glycemic control of the diabetic animals and treatment with *T. triandra* extract and compound **1** also caused improvements in the lipid profile of the treated groups. Furthermore, the extract of *T. triandra* and compound **1** protected against diabetes induced liver damage as indicated by the reduction in the level of liver function enzymes (AST, ALT and ALP), increased total protein, globulin and albumin levels and a decreased level of total and direct bilirubin. Treatment with *T. triandra* extract
and compound **1** also caused a decrease in the level of creatinine and BUN. This implies that *T. triandra* and compound **1** protected against renal dysfunction in diabetic rats. Furthermore, treatment with 400 mg/kg of *T. trinadra* extract and 25 mg/kg of compound **1** reversed hypokalemia and metabolic alkalosis. Compound **1** ameliorated anaemia by improving the red blood cell parameters of the diabetic rats and it also enhanced the immune system of the rats through the improvement of white blood cell parameters. Treatment with *T. triandra* extract lowered the platelet counts of TT100 and TT400 groups. Histopathological assessment revealed that *T. triandra* and compound **1** reversed the damages induced on the pancreas, liver, kidney and testes by diabetes.

Findings in this dissertation revealed that the aerial part of *T. triandra* possess potent antidiabetic activity and it is a prospective source for safer and cheaper natural remedy for diabetes and its associated complications such as diabetic nephropathy, cardiovascular diseases and diabetes induced liver damage. These findings also underline the fact that nature is an ancient pharmacy and a vast deposit of therapeutic solutions.

References

- Abdellatief, S. A., Beheiry, R. R., and El-Mandrawy, S. A. M. Peppermint essential oil alleviates hyperglycemia caused by streptozotocin- nicotinamide-induced type 2 diabetes in rats. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* **2017**, 95, 990–999.
- Adefegha, S. A., Oboh, G., Adefegha, O. M., Boligon, A. A., and Athayde, M. L. Antihyperglycemic, hypolipidemic, hepatoprotective and antioxidative effects of dietary clove (*Szyzgium aromaticum*) bud powder in a high-fat diet/streptozotocin-induced diabetes rat model. J. Sci. Food. Agric. 2014, 94, 2726–2737.
- Ademiluyi, A. O., and Oboh, G. Soybean phenolic-rich extracts inhibit key-enzymes linked to type 2 diabetes (α-amylase and α-glucosidase) and hypertension (angiotensin I converting enzyme) in vitro. *Exp. Tox. Path.* **2013**, 65, 305– 309.
- Al-Attar, A. M., Alsalmi, F. A. Influence of olive leaves extract on hepatorenal injury in streptozotocin diabetic rats. *Saudi J. Biol. Sci.* **2019**, 26, 1865–1874.
- Arumugam, G., Manjula, P., Paari, N. A review: Anti diabetic medicinal plants used for diabetes mellitus. J. Acute Dis. 2013, 2, 196–200.
- Asrafuzzaman, M., Cao, Y., Afroz, R., Kamato, D., Gray, S., Little, P. J. Animal models for assessing the impact of natural products on the aetiology and metabolic pathophysiology of Type 2 diabetes. *Biomed. Pharmacother*. 2017, 89, 1242–1251.
- Assavalapsakul, W., Winayanuwattikun, P., Yongvanich, T., Kaewpiboon, C., Phuwapraisirisan, P. Effect of three fatty acids from the leaf extract of *Tiliacora triandra* on *p*-glycoprotein function in multidrug-resistant A549RT-eto cell line. *Pharmacogn. Mag.* 2014, 10, 549.
- Atangwho, I. J., Ebong, P. E., Eteng, M. U., Eyong, E. U., Obi, A. U. Effect of *Vernonia* amygdalina del leaf on kidney function of diabetic rats. *Int. J. Pharmacol.* 2017, 3, 143–148.
- Bailey, C. J. Metformin revisited: its actions and indications for use. *Diabet. Med.* **1988**, 5, 315–320.
- Bailey, C. J., Day, C. Traditional plant medicines as treatments for diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* 1989, 12, 553–564.
- Bailey, C., Day, C. Metformin: its botanical background. Practical Diabetes Int. 2004,

21, 115–117.

- Balakrishnan, B. B., Krishnasamy, K., Mayakrishnan, V., Selvaraj, A. *Moringa concanensis* Nimmo extracts ameliorates hyperglycemia-mediated oxidative stress and upregulates PPARγ and GLUT4 gene expression in liver and pancreas of streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced diabetic rats. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2019, 112, 108688.
- Bartoli, E., Fra, G. P., Schianca, G. P. C. The oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) revisited. *Euro. J. Intern. Med.* **2011**, 22, 8–12.
- Bedekar, A., Shah, K., Koffas, M. Natural products for type II diabetes treatment. *Adv. Appl. Microbiol.* **2010**, 71, 21–73.
- Ben, C. P., Remya, K. P., Miller Paul, Z. Antimicrobial efficacy of a traditionally important medicinal plant - *Tiliacora acuminata* (Lam.) Hook. f. *Indian J. Nat. Prod. Res.* 2013, 4, 358–362.
- Bhandari, M. R., Jong-Anurakkun, N., Hong, G., Kawabata, J. α-Glucosidase and αamylase inhibitory activities of Nepalese medicinal herb Pakhanbhed (*Bergenia ciliata*, Haw.). *Food Chem.* **2008**, 106, 247–252.
- Butler, M. S. The role of natural product chemistry in drug discovery. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2004**, 67, 2141–2153.
- Cardellina, J. H., Graden, C. J., Greer, B. J., Kern, J. R. 17Z-Tetracosenyl 1-glycerol ether from the sponges *Cinachyra alloclada* and *Ulosa ruetzleri*. *Lipids*. 1983, 18, 107–110.
- Chakrabarti, R., Singh, B., Prakrith, V. N., Vanchhawng, L., Thirumurugan, K. Screening of nine herbal plants for in vitro α-amylase inhibition. Asian J. Pharm. Clin. Res. 2014, 7, 84–89.
- Chandran, R., Parimelazhagan, T., Shanmugam, S., Thankarajan, S. Antidiabetic activity of *Syzygium calophyllifolium* in streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced type-2 diabetic rats. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* **2016**, 82, 547–554.
- Chandrakanthan, M., Stanislaus, A. C., Krishnakumar, S., Karuppiah, V., Kambattan, S., Alagumuthu, T. Antibacterial, antioxidant and antiproliferative activities of solvent extracts of *Tiliacora acuminata*. *IJPPS*. **2014**, 6, 398– 403.

- Chanprasertpinyo, W., Bhirommuang, N., Surawattanawiset, T., Tangsermwong, T., Phanachet, P., Sriphrapradang, C. Using ice cream for diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance: an alternative to the oral glucose tolerance test. *Am. J. Med. Sci.* **2017**, 354, 581–585.
- Chatterjee, S., Khunti, K., Davies, M. J. Type 2 diabetes. *Lancet.* 2017, 389, 2239–2251.
- Chaudhary, S., Semwal, A., Kumar, H., Chandra Verma, H., Kumar, A. *In-vivo* study for anti-hyperglycemic potential of aqueous extract of Basil seeds (*Ocimum basilicum* Linn) and its influence on biochemical parameters, serum electrolytes and haematological indices. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2016, 84, 2008–2003.
- Chaveerach, A., Lertsatitthanakorn, P., Tanee, T., Puangjit, N., Patarapadungkit, N., Sudmoon, R. Chemical constituents, antioxidant property, cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of *Tiliacora triandra*. *IJPPR*. **2016**, 8, 722–729.
- Chen, L., Larocque, L. M., Efe, O., Wang, J., Sands, J. M., Klein, J. D. Effect of dapagliflozin treatment on fluid and electrolyte balance in diabetic rats. *Am. J. Med. Sci.* 2016, 352, 517–523.
- Chinsembu, K. C. Diabetes mellitus and nature's pharmacy of putative antidiabetic plants. *J. Herb. Med.* **2019**, 15, 100230.
- Cho, N. H., Shaw, J. E., Karuranga, S., Huang, Y., da Rocha Fernandes, J. D., Ohlrogge,
 A. W., Malanda, B. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 2018, 138, 271-281.
- Cragg, G. M., Newman, D. J. Biodiversity: a continuing source of novel drug leads. *Pure Appl. Chem.* 2005, 77.
- Cragg, G. M., Newman, D. J. Natural products: a continuing source of novel drug leads. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **2013.** 1830, 3670–3695.
- Crawford, K. Review of 2017 Diabetes Standards of Care. Nur. Clin N. Am. 2017, 52, 621–623
- Collado-González J, Grosso C, Valentão P, Andrade, Paula B., Ferreres, F., Durand, T., Guy, A., Galano, J., Torrecillas, A., Gil-Izquierdo, A. Inhibition of αglucosidase and α-amylase by Spanish extra virgin olive oils: the

involvement of bioactive compounds other than oleuropein and hydroxytyrosol. *Food Chem.* **2017**, 235, 298–307.

- Costantino, V., Fattorusso, E., Mangoni, A., Aknin, M., Fall, A., Samb, A., Miralles, J. An unusual ether glycolipid from the Senegalese sponge *Trikentrion loeve* Carter. *Tetrahedron.* **1993**, 49, 2711–2716.
- Dalar, A., Dogan, A., Bengu, A. S., Mukemre, M., Celik, I. Screening in vivo antioxidant and haematological properties of sumac and acorn bioactive rich extracts. *Ind. Crop. Prod.* 2018, 124, 20–27.
- DeFronzo, R. A., Abdul-Ghani, M. Assessment and treatment of cardiovascular risk in prediabetes: impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glucose. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 2016, 108, 3B-24B.
- De Wet, H., Struwig, M., Van Wyk, B. E. Taxonomic notes on the genera *Tiliacora* and *Tinospora (Menispermaceae)* in southern Africa. *S. Afr. J. Bot.* **2016**, 103, 283–294.
- De Wet, H., Van Wyk, B. E. An ethnobotanical survey of southern African *Menispermaceae. S. Afr. J. Bot.* **2008**, 74, 2–9.
- Dong, J.W., Cai, L., Li, X.J., Peng, L., Xing, Y., Mei, R. F., Wang, J. P. Ding, Z. T. Two new peroxy fatty acids with antibacterial activity from *Ophioglossum thermale* Kom. *Fitoterapia*. **2016**, 109, 212–216.
- Dwuma-Badu, D., Ayim, J. S. K., Schiff, P. L. Constituents of west african medicinal plants xxv' isolation of oblongine from *Tiliacora dinklagei*. J. Nat. Prod. 1980, 1882, 342–349.
- Egan, A. M., Dinneen, S. F. What is diabetes? Medicine. 2019, 47, 1-4.
- Ekperikpe, U. S., Owolabi, O. J., Olapeju, B. I. Effects of *Parkia biglobosa* aqueous seed extract on some biochemical, haematological and histopathological parameters in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 2019, 228, 1–10.
- Erukainure, O. L., Ebuehi, O. A. T., Adeboyejo, F. O., Aliyu, M., Elemo, G. N. Hematological and biochemical changes in diabetic rats fed with fiberenriched cake. J. Acute Med. 2013, 3, 39–44.
- Fox, C. S., Golden, S. H., Anderson, C., Bray, G. A., Burke, L. E., de Boer, I. H.,

Dewdwania, P., Fradkin, J., Inzucchi., S. E., Patel, M. J., Piqnone, M., Quinn, L., Schauer, P. R., Selvin, E., Vafiadis., D. K., American Diabetes Association. Update on prevention of cardiovascular disease in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus in light of recent evidence: a scientific statement from the american heart association and the american diabetes association. *Diabetes Care.* **2015**, 38, 1777–1803.

- Fujisawa, T., Ikegami, H., Inoue, K., Kawabata, Y., Ogihara, T. Effect of two αglucosidase inhibitors, voglibose and acarbose, on postprandial hyperglycemia correlates with subjective abdominal symptoms. *Metabolism.* 2015, 54, 387–390.
- Ghasemi, A., Khalifi, S., Jedi, S. Streptozotocin-nicotinamide-induced rat model of type 2 diabetes (review). *Acta Physiol. Hung.* **2014**, 101, 408–420.
- Gheibi, S., Kashfi, K., Ghasemi, A. A practical guide for induction of type-2 diabetes in rat: incorporating a high-fat diet and streptozotocin. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2017a, 95, 605–613.
- Gheibi, S., Bakhtiarzadeh, F., Jeddi, S., Farrokhfall, K., Zardooz, H., Ghasemi, A. Nitrite increases glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and islet insulin content in obese type 2 diabetic male rats. *Nitric Oxide*. 2017b, 64, 39–51.
- Giribabu, N., Kumar, K. E., Rekha, S. S., Muniandy, S., Salleh, N. *Chlorophytum borivilianum* root extract maintains near normal blood glucose, insulin and lipid profile levels and prevents oxidative stress in the pancreas of streptozotocin-induced adult male diabetic rats. *Int. J. Med. Sci.* 2014, 11, 1172–1184.
- Goboza, M., Aboua, Y. G., Chegou, N., and Oguntibeju, O. O. Vindoline effectively ameliorated diabetes-induced hepatotoxicity by docking oxidative stress, inflammation and hypertriglyceridemia in type 2 diabetes-induced male Wistar rats. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2019, 112, 108638.
- Han, X. X., Jiang, Y. P., Liu, N., Wu, J., Yang, J. M., Li, Y. X., Sun. M., Sun, T., Zheng, P., Jian-Qiang, Y. Protective effects of astragalin on spermatogenesis in streptozotocin-induced diabetes in male mice by improving antioxidant activity and inhibiting inflammation. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2019, 110, 561–570.

Heller, S., Novodvorsky, P. Hypoglycaemia in diabetes. *Medicine*. 2019, 47, 52–58.

- Hossain, H., Howlader, M. S. I., Kanti Dey, S., Hira, A., Ahmed, A. Antinociceptive and antidiarrhoeal activities of ethanolic leaf extract of *Tiliacora acuminata* (lam.) Miers. *Turk. J. Pharm. Sci.* **2013**, 10, 393–403.
- Huh, S., Kim, Y.S., Jung, E., Lim, J., Jung, K. S., Kim, M.O., Lee, J., Park, D. Melanogenesis inhibitory effect of fatty acid alkyl esters isolated from *Oxalis triangularis. Biol. Pharm. Bull.* 2010, 33, 1242–1245.
- Ibrahim, M. A., Habila, J. D., Koorbanally, N. A., Islam, M. S. Butanol fraction of *Parkia biglobosa* (Jacq.) G. Don leaves enhance pancreatic β-cell functions, stimulates insulin secretion and ameliorates other type 2 diabetesassociated complications in rats. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* **2016**, 183, 103–111.
- Indrianingsih, A. W., Tachibana, S. α-Glucosidase inhibitor produced by an endophytic fungus, Xylariaceae sp. QGS 01 from Quercus gilva Blume. Food Sci. Hum. Wellness. 2017, 6, 88–95.
- International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas Eighth edition. IDF. 2017,8.
- Ingkaninan, K., Temkitthawon, P., Chuenchom, K., Yuyaem, T., Thongnoi, W. Screening for acetylcholinesterase inhibitory activity in plants used in Thai traditional rejuvenating and neurotonic remedies. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 2003, 89, 261–264.
- Irons, B. K., Minze, M. G. Drug treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus in patients for whom metformin is contraindicated. *Diabetes Metab. Synd. Obes.* 2014, 7, 15–24.
- Janeklang, S., Nakaew, A., Vaeteewoottacharn, K., Seubwai, W., Boonsiri, P., Kismali, G., Suksamrarn, A., Okada, A., Wongkham, S. *In vitro* and *in vivo* antitumor activity of tiliacorinine in human cholangiocarcinoma. *Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev.* 2014, 15, 7473–7478.
- Johnson, A., Cheng, S.C., Tsou, D., Kong, Z.L. Attenuation of reproductive dysfunction in diabetic male rats with timber cultured *Antrodia cinnamomea* ethanol extract. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* **2019**, 112, 108684.
- Joseph, B., Jini, D. Antidiabetic effects of *Momordica charantia* (bitter melon) and its medicinal potency. *Asian Pac. J. Trop. Dis.* 2013, 3, 93–102.

- Joseph Selvaraj, S., Alphonse, I., John Britto, S. Isolation and characterization of novel esters from aerial parts of *Tiliacora acuminata*. *Indian J. Chem. B.* **2009**, 48, 1038–1040.
- Kashfi, K., Cagen, L., Cook, G. Diabetes and proteolysis: effects on carnitine palmitoyltransferase-I and malonyl-CoA binding. *Lipids*. **1995**, 30, 383–388.
- Kasipandi, M., Manikandan, A., Sreeja, P. S., Suman, T., Saikumar, S., Dhivya, S., Parimelazhagan, T. Effects of in vitro simulated gastrointestinal digestion on the antioxidant, α-glucosidase and α-amylase inhibitory activities of water-soluble polysaccharides from *Opilia amentacea* roxb fruit. *LWT*. *Food Sci. Technol.* **2019**, 111, 774–781.
- Katisart, T., and Rattana, S. Hypoglycemic activity of leaf extracts from *Tiliacora triandra* in normal and streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Pharmacogn. J.* 2017, 9, 621–625.
- Kazeem, M. I., Adamson, J. O., Ogunwande, I. A. Modes of inhibition of α-amylase and α-glucosidase by aqueous extract of *Morinda lucida* benth leaf. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2013, 2013, 527570.
- Kern, M., Tapscott, E. B., Downes, D. L., Frisell, W. R., Dohm, G. L. Insulin resistance induced by high-fat feeding is only partially reversed by exercise training. *Pflugers Arch.* **1990**, 417, 79–83.
- Khamchan, A., Paseephol, T., Hanchang, W. Protective effect of wax apple (Syzygium samarangense (Blume) Merr. & L.M. Perry) against streptozotocininduced pancreatic beta-cell damage in diabetic rats. Biomed. Pharmacother. 2018, 108, 634–645.
- Khosravi, Z., Sedaghat, R., Baluchnejadmojarad, T., Roghani, M. Diosgenin ameliorates testicular damage in streptozotocin-diabetic rats through attenuation of apoptosis, oxidative stress, and inflammation. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 2019, 70, 37–46.
- Kim, S. H., Park, T. S., Jin, H. Y. Rethinking the accuracy of 75 g glucose used in the oral glucose tolerance test in the diagnosis and management of diabetes. *Prim. Care Diabetes.* 2017, 11, 555–560.

Kolanjiappan, K., Manoharan, S., Kayalvizhi, M. Measurement of erythrocyte lipids,

lipid peroxidation, antioxidants and osmotic fragility in cervical cancer patients. *Clin. Chim. Acta.* **2002**, 326, 143–149.

- Koroglu, P., Senturk, G. E., Yucel, D., Ozakpinar, O. B., Uras, F., Arbak, S. The effect of exogenous oxytocin on streptozotocin (STZ)-induced diabetic adult rat testes. *Peptides.* 2015, 63, 47–54.
- Kotha, P., Marella, S., Allagadda, R., Badri, K. R., Chippada, A. R. Evaluation of biochemical mechanisms of anti-diabetic functions of *Anisomeles malabarica. Biomed. Pharmacother.* **2019**, 112, 108598.
- Kraegen, E. W., Clark, P. W., Jenkins, A. B., Daley, E. A., Chisholm, D. J., Storlien, L. H. Development of muscle insulin resistance after liver insulin resistance in high-fat-fed rats. *Diabetes*. **1991**, 40, 1397–1403.
- Kumar, R., Arora, V., Ram, V., Bhandari, A., Vyas, P. Hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effect of allopolyherbal formulations in streptozotocin induced diabetes mellitus in rats. *Int. J. Diabetes Mellit.* 2015a, 3, 45–50.
- Kumar, S., Kumar, V., and Prakash, O. Enzymes inhibition and antidiabetic effect of isolated constituents from *Dillenia indica*. *Biomed. Res. Inter.* 2013, 2013, 382063.
- Kumar, S., Paul, S., Walia, Y. K., Kumar, A., Singhal, P. Therapeutic potential of medicinal plants : a review. J. Biol. Chem. Chron. 2015b, 1, 46–54.
- Kumar, V., Nanavati, S. M., Komal, F., Ortiz, L. C., Paul, N., Kumar, M., Patrick, M., Singhal, M. Ketoalkalosis: masked presentation of diabetic ketoacidosis with literature review. *J. Endocrin. Metab.* **2018**, 7, 194–196.
- Lahlou, M. The success of natural products in drug discovery. *Pharmacol. Pharm.* **2013**, 4, 17–31.
- Lenzen, S. The mechanisms of alloxan- and streptozotocin-induced diabetes. *Diabetologia*. **2008**, 51, 216–226.
- Li, S., Huang, Q., Zhang, L., Qiao, X., Zhang, Y., Tang, F., Li, Z. Effect of CAPEpNO2 against type 2 diabetes mellitus via the AMPK/GLUT4/ GSK3β/PPARα pathway in HFD/STZ-induced diabetic mice. *Euro. J. Pharmacol.* 2019, 853, 1–10.
- Li, X. J., Dong, J. W., Cai, L., Wang, J. P., Yu, N. X., Ding, Z. T. Illigerones A and B,

two new long-chain secobutanolides from *Illigera henryi* W. W. Sm. *Phytochem. Lett.* **2017**, 19, 181–186.

- Liu, L., Deseo, M. A., Morris, C., Winter, K. M., Leach, D. N. Investigation of αglucosidase inhibitory activity of wheat bran and germ. *Food Chem.* 2011, 126, 553–561.
- Luo, H. Y., Guo, R. X., Yu, X. K., Zhang, X., Lu, Y.Q., Wu, H., Tang, L. Y., Wang, Z. Chemical constituents from the seeds of *Cassia obtusefolia* and their in vitro α-glucosidase inhibitory and antioxidant activities. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2019**, 29, 1576–1579.
- Marles, R. J., Farnsworth, N. R. Antidiabetic plants and their active constituents. *Phytomedicine*. **1995**, 2, 137–189.
- Martinez, L. C., Sherling, D., Holley, A. The screening and prevention of diabetes mellitus. *Prim. Care.* **2019**, 46, 41–52.
- Matsuo, T., Odaka, H., Ikeda, H. Effect of an intestinal disaccharidase inhibitor (AO-128) on obesity and diabetes. *Am. J. Clin. Nut.* **1992**, 55, 314S–317S.
- Matveyenko, A. V., Butler, P. C. Relationship between β-cell mass and diabetes onset. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* **2008**, 10, 23–31.
- Mehdi, U., Toto, R. D. Anemia, diabetes, and chronic kidney disease. *Diabetes Care*. **2009**, 32, 1320–1326.
- Meier, J. J., Bonadonna, R. C. Role of reduced β-cell mass versus impaired β-cell function in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* 2013, 36, S113–1199.
- Mohammed, A., Gbonjubola, V. A., Koorbanally, N. A., Islam, M. S. Inhibition of key enzymes linked to type 2 diabetes by compounds isolated from *Aframomum melegueta* fruit. *Pharmaceut. Biol.* **2017**, 55, 1010–1016.
- Molander, M., Saslis-Lagoudakis, C. H., Jäger, A. K., Rønsted, N. Cross-cultural comparison of medicinal floras used against snakebites. J. *Ethnopharmacol.* 2012, 139, 863–872.
- Mollica, A., Zengin, G., Locatelli, M., Stefanucci, A., Mocan, A., Macedonio, G., Carradori, S., Onoolapo, O., Onaolapo, A., Adegoke, J., Olaniyan, M., Aktumsek, A., Novellino, E. Anti-diabetic and anti-hyperlipidemic properties of *Capparis spinosa* L.: *in vivo* and *in vitro* evaluation of its

nutraceutical potential. J. Funct. Foods. 2017, 35, 32-42.

- Mooradian, A. D. Dyslipidemia in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nat. Rev. Endocrin.* **2009**, 5, 150–159.
- Mukherjee, P. K., Kumar, V., Mal, M., Houghton, P. J. Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors from plants. *Phytomedicine*. **2007**, 14, 289–300.
- Naibaho, N. M., Kerdchoechuen, N., Laohankujit, N. Volatile composition and antibacterial activity of essential oil from yanang (*Tiliacora triandra*) leaves. *Agric. Sci. J.* **2012**, 43, 529–532.
- Nathan, D. M., Davidson, M. B., DeFronzo, R. A., Heine, R. J., Henry, R. R., Pratley, R., Zinman, B. Impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance: implications for care. *Diabetes Care.* 2007, 22, 399–402.
- Neamsuvan, O., Kama, A., Salaemae, A., Leesen, S., Waedueramae, N. A survey of herbal formulas for skin diseases from Thailand's three southern border provinces. J. Herb. Med. 2015a, 5, 190–198.
- Neamsuvan, O., Komonhiran, P., Boonming, K. Medicinal plants used for hypertension treatment by folk healers in Songkhla province, Thailand. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* **2018**, 214, 58–70.
- Neamsuvan, O., Madeebing, N., Mah, L., Lateh, W. A survey of medicinal plants for diabetes treating from Chana and Nathawee district, Songkhla province, Thailand. J. Ethnopharmacol. 2015b, 174, 82–90.
- Neamsuvan, O., Phumchareon, T., Bunphan, W., Kaosaeng, W. Plant materials for gastrointestinal diseases used in Chawang District, Nakhon Si Thammarat Province, Thailand. J. Ethnopharmacol. 2016, 194, 179–187.
- Nutmakul, T., Pattanapanyasat, K., Soonthornchareonnon, N., Shiomi, K., Mori, M., Prathanturarug, S. Antiplasmodial stage specific activity of tiliacorinine and yanangcorinine, and their interaction effects with chloroquine. *Planta Med.* 2016, 81, S1–S381.
- Ogar, I., Egbung, G. E., Nna, V. U., Atangwho, I. J., Itam, E. H. Hyptis verticillata attenuates dyslipidaemia, oxidative stress and hepato-renal damage in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Life Sci.* **2019**, 219, 283–293.
- Oliver-Bever, B. Medicinal plants in tropical west africa II. Plants acting on the nervous

system. J. Ethnopharmacol. 1983, 7, 1–93.

- Olokoba, A. B., Obateru, O. A., Olokoba, L. B. Type 2 diabetes mellitus: a review of current trends. *Oman Med. J.* **2012**, 27, 269–273.
- Osigwe, C. C., Akah, P. A., Nworu, C. S. Biochemical and haematological effects of the leaf extract of *Newbouldia laevis* in alloxan-induced diabetic rats. *J. Biosci. Med.* 2017, 5, 18–36.
- Oyedemi, S. O., Adewusi, E. A., Aiyegoro, O. A., Akinpelu, D. A. Antidiabetic and haematological effect of aqueous extract of stem bark of *Afzelia africana* (Smith) on streptozotocin-induced diabetic Wistar rats. *Asian Pacific J. of Trop. Biomed.* 2011a, 1, 353–358.
- Oyedemi, S. O., Bradley, G., Afolayan, A. J. Beneficial effect of aqueous stem bark extracts of *Strychnos henningsii* Gilg in streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced type 2 diabetic Wistar rats. *Int. J. Pharmacol.* **2011b**, 7, 773–781.
- Ozougwu, O. The pathogenesis and pathophysiology of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J. Physiol. Pathophysiol.* **2013**, 4, 46–57.
- Pachaly, P., Khosravian, H. New bisbenzylisoquinoline alkaloids from *Tiliacora triandra*. *Planta Med.* **1988a**, 54, 433–437.
- Pachaly, P., Khosravian, H. Tilitriandrin, ein neues bisbenzylisochinolin-alkaloid aus *Tiliacora triandra. Planta Med.* **1988b**, 54, 516–519.
- Pachaly, P., Tan, T. J. Alkaloide aus *Tiliacora triandra* Diels (*Menispermaceae*), 3. Mitt.1). Die struktur von tilianangin, einem neuen bisbenzylisochinolinalkaloid. Arch. D.Pharm. **1986**, 319, 872–877.
- Park, S. Y., Seetharaman, R., Ko, M. J., Kim, D. Y., Kim, T. H., Yoon, M. K., Kwak, J. H., Lee, S. J., Bae, Y. S., Choi, Y. W. Ethyl linoleate from garlic attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced pro-inflammatory cytokine production by inducing heme oxygenase-1 in RAW264.7 cells. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 2014, 19, 253–261.
- Patel, M. B., Mishra, S. M. Magnoflorine from *Tinospora cordifolia* stem inhibits αglucosidase and is antiglycemic in rats. *J. Funct. Foods.* 2012, 4, 79–86.
- Pavanand, K., Webster, H. K., Yongvanitchit, K. Antimalarial Activity of *Tiliacora triandra* Diels against *Plasmodium falciparum in vitro*. *Phytother. Res.* 1989, 3, 215–217.

Phillipson, J. D. Phytochemistry and medicinal plants. *Phytochem.* 2001, 56, 237–243.

- Phunchago, N., Wattanathorn, J., Chaisiwamongkol, K. *Tiliacora triandra*, an antiintoxication plant, improves memory impairment, neurodegeneration, cholinergic function, and oxidative stress in hippocampus of ethanol dependence rats. *Oxid. Med. Cell. Long.* **2015**, 1–9.
- Prabhakar, P., Doble, M. A target based therapeutic approach towards diabetes mellitus using medicinal plants. *Curr. Diabetes Rev.* **2008**, 4, 291–308.
- Prabhakar, P. K., Doble, M. Mechanism of action of natural products used in the treatment of diabetes mellitus. *Chin. J. Integr. Med.* **2011**, 17, 563–574.
- Pradeep, S. R., Srinivasan, K. Haemato-protective influence of dietary fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum-graecum* L.) seeds is potentiated by onion (*Allium cepa* L.) in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2018, 98, 372–381.
- Rahman, M., Shamsuzzaman, M., Khatun, M., Rahman, M., Hossain, A., Alam, A., Mosaddik, M., Wahed, M. Phytochemical and antimicrobial properties of *Tiliacora triandra* stem bark. *Brit. J. Pharmaceut. Res.* 2017, 17, 1–9.
- Rashid, U., Khan, M. R., Sajid, M. Antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and hypoglycemic effects of *Fagonia olivieri* DC on STZ-nicotinamide induced diabetic rats *in vivo* and *in vitro* study. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* 2019, 242, 112038.
- Rattana, S., Phadungkit, M., Cushnie, B. Phytochemical screening, flavonoid content and antioxidant activity of *Tiliacora triandra* leaf extracts. The 2nd annual international conference of northeast pharmacy research. faculty of pharmacy, Mahasarakham University, Maha Sarakham, Thailand. **2010**, 4, 60-63.
- Rattana, S., Cushnie, B., Taepongsorat, L., Phadungkit, M. Chemical constituents and *in vitro* anticancer activity of *Tiliacora triandra* leaves. *Pharmacogn. J.* 2016, 8, 1–3.
- Ray, A. K., Mukhopadhyay, G., Mitra, S. K., Guha, K. P., Mukherjee, B., Atta-ur-Rahman, Nelofar, A. A diphenylbisbenzylisoquinoline alkaloid from *Tiliacora racemosa. Phytochemistry.* **1990**, 29, 1020–1022.
- Ray, A. K., Mukhopadhyay, G., Mitra, S. K., Guha, K. P., Mukherjee, B., Guha, A.R.,

Nelofar, A. (+)-*N*-methyltiliamosine, an alkaloid from *Tiliacora racemosa*. *Phytochemistry*. **1989**, 28, 675–676.

- Reed, M., Meszaros, K., Entes, L., Claypool, M., Pinkett, J., Gadbois, T., Reaven, G. A new rat model of type 2 diabetes: the fat-fed, streptozotocin-treated rat. *Metabolism.* 2000, 49, 1390–1394.
- Rey-Ladino, J., Ross, A. G., Cripps, A. W., McManus, D. P., Quinn, R. Natural products and the search for novel vaccine adjuvants. *Vaccine*. 2011, 29, 6464–6471.
- Ríos, J., Francini, F., Schinella, G. Natural products for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Planta Med.* 2015, 81, 975–994.
- Rizvi, T. S., Hussain, I., Ali, L., Mabood, F., Khan, A. L., Shujah, S., Rehman, N. U., Al-Harrasi, A., Hussain, J., Khan, A., Halim, S. A. New gorgonane sesquiterpenoid from *Teucrium mascatense* Boiss, as α-glucosidase inhibitor. S. Afr. J. Bot. 2019, 124, 218–222.
- Rother, K. I. Diabetes treatment bridging the divide. N. Eng. J. Med. 2019, 356, 1499–1501.
- Saiin, C., Markmee, S. Isolation of anti-malarial active compound from yanang (*Tiliacora triandra* Diels). *Kasetsart J. Nat. Sci.* **2003**, 37, 47–51.
- Sellers, R. S., Morton, D., Michael, B., Roome, N., Johnson, J. K., Yano, B. L., Perry, R., Schafer, K. Society of toxicologic pathology position paper: organ weight recommendations for toxicology studies. *Toxicol. Pathol.* 2007, 35, 751–755.
- Sherwani, S. I., Khan, H. A., Ekhzaimy, A., Masood, A., Sakharkar, M. K. Significance of HbA1c test in diagnosis and prognosis of diabetic patients. *Biomark*. *Insights.* 2016, 11, 95.
- Singthong, J., Ningsanond, S., Cui, S. W. Extraction and physicochemical characterisation of polysaccharide gum from Yanang (*Tiliacora triandra*) leaves. *Food Chem.* 2009, 114, 1301–1307.
- Singthong, J., Oonsivilai, R., Oonmetta-aree, J., Ratchathani, U., Ningsanond, S. Bioactive compounds and encapsulation of yanang (*Tiliacora triandra*) leaves. *Afr. J. Trad. Compl. Alt. Med.* **2010**, 11, 76–84.

Sireeratawong, S., Lertprasertsuke, N., Srisawat, U., Thuppia, A., Ngamjariyawat, A.,

Suwanlikhid, N., Jaijoy, K. Acute and subchronic toxicity study of the water extract from *Tiliacora triandra* (Colebr.) Diels in rats. *Songklanakarin J. Sci. Tech.* **2008**, 30, 611–619.

- Skovsø, S. Modeling type 2 diabetes in rats using high fat diet and streptozotocin. J. *Diabetes Investig.* **2014**, 5, 349–358.
- Soliman, G. A., Saeedan, A. S., Abdel-Rahman, R. F., Ogaly, H. A., Abd-Elsalam, R. M., Abdel-Kader, M. S. Olive leaves extract attenuates type II diabetes mellitus-induced testicular damage in rats: molecular and biochemical study. *Saudi Pharm. J.* 2019, 27, 326–340.
- Srinivasan, K., Viswanad, B., Asrat, L., Kaul, C. L., Ramarao, P. Combination of highfat diet-fed and low-dose streptozotocin-treated rat: a model for type 2 diabetes and pharmacological screening. *Pharmacol. Res.* 2005, 52, 313– 320.
- Sudha, P., Zinjarde, S. S., Bhargava, S. Y., Kumar, A. R. Potent α-amylase inhibitory activity of Indian Ayurvedic medicinal plants. *BMC Compl. Alt. Med.* 2011, 11, 1–10.
- Sureram, S., Senadeera, S. P. D., Hongmanee, P., Mahidol, C., Ruchirawat, S., Kittakoop, P. Antimycobacterial activity of bisbenzylisoquinoline alkaloids from *Tiliacora triandra* against multidrug-resistant isolates of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Bioorgic. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2012, 22, 2902– 2905.
- Sylvester Darvin, S., Toppo, E., Esakkimuthu, S., Ajeesh Krishna, T. P., Ceasar, S. A.,
 Stalin, A., Balakrishna, K., Munniapan, N., Pashanivel, N., Mahaprabhu,
 R., Paulraj, M. G., Pandikumar, P., Ignacimuthu, S., Al-Dhabi, N. A.
 Hepatoprotective effect of bisbenzylisoquinoline alkaloid tiliamosine from *Tiliacora racemosa* in high-fat diet/diethylnitrosamine-induced non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2018, 108, 963–973.
- Szkudelski, T. The mechanism of alloxan and streptozotocin action in B cells of the rat pancreas. *Physiolo. Res.* **2001**, 50, 537–546.
- Tackie, A. N., Dwuma-Badu, D., Knapp, J. E., Schiff, P. L. Nortiliacorinine-A and nortiliacorine-A from *Tiliacora funifera*. *Phytochemistry*. **1973**, 12, 203–

205.

- Tang, D., Chen, Q. B., Xin, X. L., Aisa, H. A. Anti-diabetic effect of three new norditerpenoid alkaloids in vitro and potential mechanism via PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2017, 87, 145–152.
- Teo, S., Stirling, D., Thomas, S., Hoberman, A., Kiorpes, A., Khetani, V. A 90-day oral gavage toxicity study of D-methylphenidate and D,L-methylphenidate in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Toxicology*. 2002, 179, 183–196.
- Ugwah-Oguejiofor, C. J., Okoli, C. O., Ugwah, M. O., Umaru, M. L., Ogbulie, C. S., Mshelia, H. E., Umar, M., Njan, A. A. Acute and sub-acute toxicity of aqueous extract of aerial parts of *Caralluma dalzielii* N. E. Brown in mice and rats. *Heliyon*. **2019**, 5, e01179.
- Ullah, R., Tariq, S. A., Khan, N., Sharif, N., Ud Din, Z., Mansoor, K. Antihyperglycemic effect of methanol extract of *Tamarix aphylla* L. Karst (Saltcedar) in streptozocin–nicotinamide induced diabetic rats. *Asian Pac. J. Trop. Biomed.* 2017, 7, 619–623.
- Uranga, C. C., Beld, J., Mrse, A., Córdova-Guerrero, I., Burkart, M. D., Hernández-Martínez, R. Fatty acid esters produced by *Lasiodiplodia theobromae* function as growth regulators in tobacco seedlings. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 2016a, 472, 339–345.
- Uranga, C. C., Beld, J., Mrse, A., Córdova-Guerrero, I., Burkart, M. D., Hernández-Martínez, R. Data from mass spectrometry, NMR spectrum, GC–MS of fatty acid esters produced by *Lasiodiplodia theobromae*. *Data in Brief*. 2016b, 8, 31–39.
- Vivek K. T., Vishalakshi, M., Gangaraju, M., Das, P., Roy, P., Banerjee, A., Dutta G.
 S. Evaluation of antibacterial, antioxidant and nootropic activities of *Tiliacora racemosa* Colebr. leaves: *in vitro* and *in vivo* approach. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 2017, 86, 662–668.
- Wehmeier, U. F. The biosynthesis and metabolism of acarbose in *Actinoplanes sp.* SE 50/110: a progress report. *Biocatal. Biotransform.* **2003**, 21, 279–284.
- Wiriyachitra, P., and Phuriyakorn, B. Alkaloids of *Tiliacora triandra*. **1981**, *Aust. J. Chem.* 34, 2001–2004.
- Xia, H., Tang, H., Wang, F., Yang, X., Wang, Z., Liu, H., Pan, D., Yang, C., Wang, S.,

Sun, G. An untargeted metabolomics approach reveals further insights of *Lycium barbarum* polysaccharides in high fat diet and streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. *Food Res. Int.* **2019**, 116, 20–29.

- Yasuda, K., Hayashi, M., Murayama, M., Yamakita, N. Acidosis-induced hypochloremic alkalosis in diabetic ketoacidosis confirmed by the modified base excess method. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2016, 101, 2390–2395.
- Yin, Z., Zhang, W., Feng, F., Zhang, Y., Kang, W. α-Glucosidase inhibitors isolated from medicinal plants. *Food Sci. Hum. Wellness.* 2014, 3, 136–174.

Appendix



Figure 19. ¹H NMR spectrum of compound **1** (500 MHz, CDCl₃).



Figure 20. ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 1 (125 MHz, CDCl₃).



Figure 21. ¹H-¹H COSY spectrum of compound **1** (CDCl₃).



Figure 22. HMQC spectrum of compound 1 (CDCl₃).



Figure 23. HMBC spectrum of compound 1 (CDCl₃).



Figure 24. HRESIMS spectrum of compound 1.



Figure 25. IR spectrum of compound 1 (Neat).



Figure 26. UV spectrum of compound 1 (EtOH).



Figure 27. ¹H NMR spectrum of compound **2** (500 MHz, CDCl₃).



Figure 28. ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 2 (125 MHz, CDCl₃).



Figure 29. HMBC spectrum of compound 2 (CDCl₃).



Figure 30. HRESIMS spectrum of compound 2.



Figure 31. IR spectrum of compound 2 (Neat).



Figure 32. UV spectrum of compound 2 (EtOH).



Figure 33. ¹H NMR spectrum of compound **3** (500 MHz, CDCl₃).



Figure 34. ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 3 (125 MHz, CDCl₃).



Figure 35.¹H-¹H COSY spectrum of compound **3** (CDCl₃).



Figure 36. HMQC spectrum of compound 3 (CDCl₃).


Figure 37. HMBC spectrum of compound 3 (CDCl₃).



Figure 38. HRESIMS spectrum of compound 3.



Figure 39. IR spectrum of compound 3 (Neat).



Figure 40. UV spectrum of compound 3 (EtOH).



Figure 41.¹H NMR spectrum of compound **4** (500 MHz, CDCl₃).



Figure 42. ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 4 (125 MHz, CDCl₃).



Figure 43. HMBC spectrum of compound 4 (CDCl₃).



Figure 44. IR spectrum of compound 4 (Neat).



Figure 45. UV spectrum of compound 4 (EtOH).

VITAE

Name	Emmanuel	Ayobami	Makinde
------	----------	---------	---------

Student ID 6011420001

Educational Attainment

Degree	Name of Institution	Year of Graduation
Bachelor of Science	University of Ilorin, Nigeria	2014
(Industrial Chemistry)		

Scholarship Awards during Enrolment

- Thailand Education Hub for ASEAN Countries (TEH-AC) award for Masters study year 2017-2019 (Grant No. TEH-AC 029/2017).
- Graduate School Dissertation Funding for Thesis (2019).

List of Publication

- Makinde, E. A., Ovatlarnporn, C., Adekoya, A. E., Nwabor, O. F. and Olatunji,
 O. J. Antidiabetic, antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of the aerial part of *Tiliacora triandra*. S. Afr. J. Bot. 2019, 125, 337–343.
- Zhao, L. L., Makinde, E. A., Shah, M. A., Olatunji, O. J., and Panichayupakaranant, P. Rhinacanthins-rich extract and rhinacanthin C ameliorate oxidative stress and inflammation in streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced diabetic nephropathy. *J. Food Biochem.* 2019, 43, e12812.